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The Ancestral Domain Claim of
the Manobo Matigsalug

B. H. RODIL

Absiract

The maln finding of this study is that the Matigsalug commumity has heen in their
ancesial tervitory. for ai least 3! generations. Multiplied with the siandard 30 vears per
generation, this easily amounts fo 1,380 years of wninterrupted eceupaney.

Re-enforcing this geneglogical elain: are ather basic items [ike the stories on the 63
nanles o places and sites, and their custom and fradition on the acouirition of their dovaln
ani tie use of ity rexgurces, like lend, wild pames in rhe fovesis, and the fxhes in the rivers,
e actial preseuce of their traditiona! leaders in the various communities fiurther en:
haresy the cloim,

The stary abou! the 1973 uprising s a honus, mot anymore necedsary ta determing the
basiz af ancestral domain elaim, but emohler us io appreciate how sirongly the Matigeaiugs
feel abaut the secwrity ond defense of of their CORITMAR

Part 1

Introduction

This paper is the product of the research expedition undertaken by this writer in the
Manobo Martigsalug country on May 4 - 11, 1994,

Crsided by the Rules and Regulations for the Identification, Delinsation And Recopni-
tien of Ancestral Land and Domain Claims lzid down by the Department Administrative
Oreler af the Department Environment and Natural Resources, No. 2, Series Of 1993, this
study was commissioned by the Office of the Presidential Adviser on Peace Process {OPAPP)
specifically to look into the historical basis of the ancestral land claim of the Matigsalug of
Kitaotzo in Bulkidnon, Marilog District in Davao City and Arakan Valley in Cotabato,

Eﬁl B_ R, RODIL is a Professor of History, Department of History, College of Arnts & Social
Sciences, MSU-Tligan Institute of Technalogy, [igan City.
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Laakkd v v liichy thos syrler was prvited,

[hefane | procies
have cotribibed 1o the comple
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i of this research, most espocinily 1o the [ollowinge:

o mllow e 1o express my mssl prafiung thanks to all those wha

Uit Loretieo “Salbgan® Gawilin, e Suprenke Tribal Chieflom of the Mlatiyzsalig,
for ensuring that we gol The convenienes el security that we needed. Also, lig
pacrchites, P pleiecio Min-ukil, Assistunt Supreme Tribal Chicftain of fhe
Mbatigsulig, nod Dt Juse Din-on. Tribal Chicluin of Sinuds, who were the mogt
felesy vespaonidents,

Uhit Ciagme Lansibayon whi wos designsted by Daio Gioawilan to work with me for
the duration of (e researeh. He was my guide, companion, translater, trinscriber
annel friened, from day one 1o the day when the fnst tpe was s fely transcribed and
transtited, e alse provided nany valmble insighis on indigenous culture which
hetped me put o duta within comect cultural perspeotive,

All the 58 datus-respandents Tor their unfuiling patience and gincerity during the
TR T TR A

Chur grocious hosts for their linlless haspilality in allowing their homes (o gerve
a6 interview centers andfor hewdguarters on shorl nolice, in their order of appear-
anee: Dt Mamierlo Sogoy and family i Doroluman; Datu Maning Damlayon
anel Cunily in Mantangkil: Dato Roben Camid and family o Sagundanon; Do
Melencin Unday omd family in Kulaman Valley; Datu Lorenzo Gawilan ol [
ily in Sinwla, aod the fmilies of Dute Ranos Benito and Datu Cosme Lambayod
i Belarahmi.

Dt Moveno Tumindog and Dan Manahan Sulang, along with Datu Cosme.
Lamboyon, who altemated in providing ne with constant eompanionship and ref-
erenee, espeainlly during the weiting petiod,

Arvh, Manuel Yan, Presidentinl Adviser on the Pence Process, and ExecullVe
Director Marin Lorenzn Dalupan for their confidence in providing this enviable
appwitumity for me to be in touch with the Matigsalugs, by contracting me to do
wik very close to my heart,

lo Milet Mewdova whose entire Tixternal Alfuirs Division provided 2 “ﬂt':{ﬂ‘.
cient, cheerful and healtly administrative suppoit for the project. In particul*
Meln who did the genealogical Nowehart nr;d organized the photo albun,
who ook Hme to inlerview e, E. AL Manuel; Dorie who lend Ler tﬂpw
despite the ngks: Charo and Mon who were always there to pt‘ﬂ"-"idﬂ motal §
amil cheer. Milet bersell allowed the liberal use of her :ﬁmpm:ﬁ
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W To Bl Capalle, Nancy Jaduleo, Weng and Benjie for 2 thousand and one consiant
ity ol kindness amd support.

The Matigsalogs, estimoted in 1981 w have a population of 110,492, are claiming as
aneestrisl diivaiin a land atea estimated (o be 64,691,22 hectares, encompassing the werrary
ol the entire Municipality of Kitwetao in Bukidnon, o portion ofArakan Valley in Cotabato,
anad v part of Manlog in Davao City,

The elann i without precedent i Mindanao and it is important for OPAPP to ensure
(haat the claim stands on solid customiry and legat grounds. Hence this study. [True, enough,
ol May 15, 1995, almost exactly n year after, DENR Secrelary Angel C. Alcala issued 1o
the Federation of Manobe-Matigsalug Tribal Councils the Certificate of Ancestral Domain
Cluim for 77,134 Iectares, the biggest such claim so far in Mindanao.]

As anginally planged, the project's main component was two weeks of field research
aisd two weeks of paper work, Dhee to pressure of time and other concerns, feld work was
lnter veduced to nine duys, May 4 - 12, 1994, including the two days for travel fo and from
the resenrch gite, bul work time was increased.

The compression of the fimetable did not in any way negatively affect the output, What
actally happened was that when the schedule of the researcher was explained to the people
and the importance of the research to fheir ancestral claim was clarified, the respondents
covpernted fully and without complaints. They readily went to and gathered where the
resemrcher was on short notice. A total of 38 respondents (ook parl. On the average, each
diy’s inderview session lasted from between seven to eight hours, usually between 3:00
pom 1o L2:080 midnight. While o responcent spoke, the others listened quietly. When a fact
was nussed, there wis always someone wha would spontancously volunteer the comect
information,

Travel between destinations in the rescarch area was usually between 9:00 a,m. 1o 2:00
p.n, decimed by the people ihere as (e most convenient time, either an fool or on horse-
bagk, or both, Lunch was between 2:00 and 3:00 poo. The termain was regged most of the
wiy wiid the dew o the griss dil not evaporaic until sround nine o'clock. Only in the Inst
Iwo bumogays wos it possible to rent motorbikes or (ake the bus, We Iad reached ihe
B Ridwon-Davao mghway by then

The research wip covered the baranagys of Mantunglkal, Sagundanen, Kulaman Valley,
Sinuda b which a delegation from nenrby barangay Towas were invited to come, and Mugalan
which was attended by datus [rom the neighboring sitio of Lodian, 11 was not feasible to
Iravel jo Bast Dalurong and West Dalurong, and Digongan, the Tast three barongays in the
itinerary dise lo ongoing military opesations against e New Peaples Ammy (NPA). There
were, however, datus who attended the Sinudn interviews who were sufficiently informed
bt these places,

Owing to the tight Livetable, the itterviews were focosed on wiai this researcher con-
sisdered to be (he most vital and the most pertinent data, namely, genealogy of the acknowl-
edged leaders within the tribe, names of places. list of wibal feaders within the ¢laitried
temitory, and custom low an scqussitton and disposition and use of land, A bonus was (he
story of therr 1975 rebellion, of which the respondents spoke with greal pride,
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Fari 1
Defining Termss, Selting Directions

Limiied Liteeature on Matigsalug

For tlie purpose o establishug the validaty ul'q_hr Matigsalug claim Iiﬁ their BRCEsir|
s, there is very listle documentary evidence with which 10 go on. This was a given o
the start of the research project. : 1

The ame “Matigsalig"” dxd not appeor in any ethnographic reporis writlen during
Spanish penod. Nor 1s tiere any mention of it in Heory Otley Beyer's 130 ‘““.“""‘ :
Latyostt el the Philippine Ethnographic Senes. Fay-Cooper Cole, too, who did feld wor
it the Davae area in the first decade of the 20th cenury and subsequently came out with his
book The Wild Tribes of Davao District, Mindanao in 1913 zaid mething abous it
was becaise he dad his field work near the coasts. Matigsalug termtory 15 deep into the
iterier of central Mindanso. While this does not prove the exisience or inexistence of the
Matigsalug, it certainly tells us bow litle documiented dats we Fave 10 go by and to what
extent we must rely on field daga from aral sources

1 s ot el thie =505 that we are abde to get something definile. First, there is the
Matgsalug epic Ulod which Tir. E. Arsenio Manue! documented in 1956, He followed
thas up i 1973 with hes monumenial work, Manuvo Secial Orpanization, which provides
us with an ethaographic map showing the location of the Manigsatug and neighboring tribes
along with some pertivent descriptions

Twe years after that, Dam Lorenzo Gawilan, the acknowledged supreme datu of the

Mangsalug, led hus people in 4 two-and-a-half-mouth rebellion 1o which Presidear Marcos
respoided quickly and decisrvely. Not anly did be give full and unconditional ampesty 1
the rebels, be also cancelled all logging, pasture, and agro-industrinl leases operating withim
their traditional termitory, except those consensed 1o by the Matigsalugs themsslves. Then,
he diected the Presidential Assistant on National Minorities or PANAMIN headed by Mand
Elizalde 1o attend to theis tnibal reeds. PANAMIN had a direct hand i popularzing the
name Matigsalug as oie referming to a distinct ethnolinguistic group, We must lasten 2
pount out though that PANAMIN's move was both a response (o Matigsalug jmitiative and
an aitfamation of what was already there in the first place, that is, the Manigsabug existrnce
and thewr celtural mstmkions

Matigsalug: Part of Manobo Linsuistic Family

Then, sill i the mid-19705. Richard Elkins published the results of his studies o1 te
Manobo tongue, which are of direct relevance to us on three intertwining i, O
only does be coafinn the existence of the Matigsalug as a distinct rlimnlinguiﬂi':.?ﬂ
s he: also puts: them in their proper culiural and triba] perspet
withan the Manobo linguistic family: he lists the Matigsalug a5 one of 18 subf . ilies of 1
Manota motbet inague i the entire Mindana uregiﬂu;unidmhepmﬁdﬁﬂ'
defirte leads by which we can assume quite safely that the M:I.igﬂ.l.;u‘;. ke the rest nf#
Manobus. Bave hived m Mindanso since a very long time azo. His findings are $0 7€* :
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ey maist be quoted lere extensively. He suys;

Tosetatn, et Devent 18 eliffrenst fangiiges and dialocts af the Meatoha sl
iy miey e feaened i Mivieenine, Crntfanin felind. and Crigenpnneilfe Ifanl
Phetr linguistie prehisiory together wish fefe gropraphteal focations winle
us fo make some assiomptions about eardy Mo b mlgrationy. Fieeh af all,
speakery of Proto-Northern Manebo separated fiont the mein benly af early
Mlernidn Speerkers aned rnlirrerted persfivad, *'1'1’”-“'"*-"-",1'-"I!'-'-'I'-'Il-"-'f.l.' e portly oamsd
of Minduinan,

Secomdly, the speakery of Pruta-Southern Manabo separated and migrated
intto the mountaing of south Cotabato and the western side af e Darvern Cleaf
The remaining body moved northe, probably wnder presvire by thi iime
Srow other peoples whe had zeted in Mindanas, Thiz badi eventually di-
vided lnfo two groups. Spenkery & Proto-Wesiern Manola seffled in what s
mew southers and wesiern Bukidnon and north Cotabate, west afthve Pulangl
River. Speakers of Proto-Eapt-Central Manabo setlfed in the mountafnons
area east af the Pulangi River ond morth of Mounl Apa, From this growp
Proto-Eustern Manobo and Proto-Centrol Marobo developed, Speaters of
casiern Manobo fangnages today occupy the Agusan River velley and the
MIOUIIRIRONS areas in vorth-western Agusmi and fn Surigos. Speakers of ce-
tral Manoba langiages are found afong the Davao River and the Liluganen
River in Davao Providee, in the Arakan Valley and swrrennding areas in nortl
Cotabate, and aleng the Thewa River in castern Bukidnon,

Elking contrnues:

Pragenf-day Mindanos lngimges which are members af tie Manoho subifimily
inclinle the following: Cotabata Manoba aid Tisuday in souh Corabato; Sargngani
Manobo i southern Daven; Tagobwvst omd Qba, west and somlnvest of Doveo
Cityy Diferbwar, Ave and Moy Salg in oortiern Doveo; Livinganen, Timsen,
anel Kilawanen in porthern Combata: Western Bubidnon Manobo and Tewe i
southern Bukidnon; Binwkid in novihern Buktdnon; Amusan Mansbo wiih iy see-
eral dinlects in Agesen g Supigea; oo Higdonon in Misawis Ovienial, Bokiraon,
il Agusan. Kingmigin tn Cowrignfn Stand north or Mindanoe aud Kugavanen
on Cageyarcitlo folmd in the Sufu Sea have only recently been idensifTed a8 me-
bers of e Maola sbfaarile

What remaing to be documented for onr present purposes are those matters (hal will
angwer cerlain key questions, Who are the Matigsalug? How long bave they lived in their
claimed ancestral territory? What is Uhe extent of this terditery? We felt that this could best
e done by zeroing In on penealogy, stories on the names of places, cusiom law o acyui-

ition, disposition and use of lnnd, and putting together a comprehensive fist of traditional
leaders,
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Origin and Genealogy

Hand in hand with teeir gencalogy is the .:[u:s.tmn of the origin of {he Matigs,
haw ey came to live in their ancestral domuain. . Bl
qn the Matigsalug tradition, they say: “the origin of the M""Db“'M“umll‘ug iibe
Apio Tahoranon™ He il his wilie, Ajpo Sumbal, w:r.c considered to be the orijgina] g
in Pantaron mountain, From (s mvountain Mowed important fvers in ¢entm) Cliply
Salug (now also known as Davao River), Pulang tpnpuln!ilu-d by the Spanish as Rig n;
Tigwa, Talome Libahanod, Tuhalawar, Langilan and Simong. They had twelve nhufl'uil

From this mountain, too, the children sprend out (o neighboring places,?

Apo Magdayao, the eldest son, and his families moved to where Salug River and Mibaly
river met and merged and called themselves Matigsalag, Matig means taga (place of ori;
or residence) in various Philippine languages, followed by the specific place of o ¢
residence. His brothers and sisters andl their descendants fanned out to nearby places. And
gn, we now have people who call themselves Mutlg-Fulangi or Pulanguihon, Ti
Matig-Talamo, Tinananon, Kulamanon, Matig-Langilan, Molig-Libahanon, Matg.
Talalawan and Matig-Simeng, Those who identify themselves as Tula-ingod tribe now con.
stitute the indigenous inhabitants of Tulo-ingod municipahity in Diaveo del Morte, Tala-ingod
means “renl owners of that territory,™

Mutlgsalug Habitut

Do we have more specifics on Matigsalug territory? Dr Manuel, by focusing in omthe
immediate neighbors of the Manuyy, also pinpointed the specific location of the Matigsalug
In his ethnographic map he had the Manuyu terrilory occupying large portions of souther
Hukidnon down to Carmen, Kabacan and Kidapawan in North Cotabato, then an mﬂ,‘
northern part of Davao City. Exactly on the eastern side of the Manuvus were their Ini_'n!!ﬂi'
ate neighbors, the Matigsalug, straddling both cast and west sides of Salug or Davag RiveE
ulso oecupying lands encompassed witlin the boundaries of the present Norihi Cotahalty
Bukidnon and Davao City. Neighbors on the southern side nre the Tuhavawa', he Jangst
nred the Attaw.” This is how close we have so far been able to get.

Mow, we come 1o (he important question. Why do we congider this as o miajor,
the mast vitul, evidence of e ancestral land claim?

it et

Genealogy and Historleul Time Depth

First, we can establish an estimated historicsl time depth, There is A ““d " ;ﬁ
what exactly is meant by ancestral domain, How fur back must we go o prove mﬂﬂfgﬂ
Lﬁu‘n: lived there since time immemorial? Or that the territory bas been handed dow! mmtﬂ

y their great-greatancestors? We have in this study a genealogy whose continui) 'y

IJ'IrﬂI.1gI|. 5] cenerations, G ’ i Ll
. - - Lriven the universally oceepted average of 30 years POr E° ool
D:::; EIE:IL‘I'I'IIDM f‘usil_',.' Ei\rp LS o LI dfplh of ITEEH' fﬂmﬁhhm M‘i jEer ]

P with which 1o establish the Maj igsalug ancestral land cliimy )
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FPoszible Complications (rom Biblical Data

Some details, however, need to be clarified, The first generation is set with Apo Adan
and Eba, followed by Apo Damlasanon and Apo Day-asanon, After this is a note which says
“several unspecified generations™. The third specified generation nimes Apo Nowaan and
Apo Lingunayan.*

Ubjectors might wish (o find fault with the fisst and third generations which refer to
biblical personaljties, namely Adam and Eve, and MNoah, locally known as Nowaan, It may
be argued that of their first and third geoerations start with such personalities, then their
genealopy is relatively young, begifning as it does with the time they were first exposed to
the Bible, which is semetime during the first half of the present century, And go, it may be
asked: When did the first Christian missionary come to the Matigsahugs? This question
seems logical because it is assumed that this is the only way knowledge of the Bible may
have reached the Marigsalug, and Adam and Eve would have been integrategl into their
indigenous folklore from there. Or 50 we assumed.

This point has been raised with them during our interviews and their answer is that this
has been their folklore since time immemerial, even before they were introduced to the
various Christian denomdnations early in the present cenfury” And we have no answer to
thes. While we have allowed doubd to set in the interpretation of their genealogy, the truth is
our only source of doubt is purely circumstantial, the assumption that they could have taken
their knowledge of Adam and Eve and Noah from nowhere else bat the Bible, It may be
mentioned here that this writer came across the great deluge and the Moah story imong the
Dibabawons of Davao del Norte in 1974, and they, too, the respondents, do not attribute
knowledge of these biblical details to the arrival of Christian missionaries. Incidentally, in
the course of our field work with the Matigsalug recently, we listed at least 12 religions
being presently practiced by and among thermn: General Baptist, Southern Baptist, Mission-
ary Baptist, Iglesia m Kristo, Four Square, Pentecostal, Jehovah's Witnesses, Baha'i, Faith
Tabemacle, Catholic, Missionary Alliance, and Ope Way Charismatic. But these constitute
o positive proof against their insistence that Adan and Eba and Nowaan have been an
integral part of their penealogy sirte time immemorial. Queried on the possible divisive
effécts of so many religions among them, the respondents uniformiy reply that in their ribal
gatherings, they always go back to their panuiad, their indigenous religious riteal common
¢+ all of them, and to which they all identify.

But even if by some fluke, the objector 15 right, the conclusion that the gencalogy is
relatively young, or dates back ohly to the time the Bible reached the Matigsalugs does not
hold much water, We still have to sccount for 47 generations or 1,410 years of continuous
fCcupancy, starting from Apo Tahuranon.

For whatever it is worth, we must medtion here that among the Subanens, too, of Mt,
Malindang, especially the Subanen of Salug residing in the towns of Josefina in Zamboanga
del Sur and Don Mariano Marcos in Misamis Occidental, “Aran and Eba” were the first

me0 and woman in their origin stories."”
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Extent of Physical Oecupanty

cecond, physical sxtent of occupancy. Very {:.H.I!'!].-' 1'|.1 the genealogy, we grs g
ildren uf;l’-.pu Tahuranon resettied themselves in various places, and Suzceedin
;];lls have continued 1o live there. There are no reported contrary claimants 1 ﬂ!lép?h

lang;

Inter-marriages and Inter-tribal Relations

. 1 i i th neighboring tribe R
Third. genealogy also mdicates INIETMAITIAZES W g g 5, Provid
with insighliﬂ and Jeads into how they handled mter-tribal relations. This also tﬂunhu:F;
issue of land. :
= Fimally, we must say that genealogy should not be viewed apart from the stores o i
pames of places.

Stories of Names of Flaces

Stories about the names of places reveal four clements: (a) the languspe ued 5
Matigsalug; (b} the content of the stories themselves are pn_at:uliarl.}r Matigsalug; (<), in siz-
nies involving traditional community heroes, a historical tme depth of OCCUpancy, miyie
cstimated and compared with names in the genealogy, and, {d) the physical extent of pore
pancy imelf may be indicated, or how far and wide the Matigsalug have occupied fher
claimed territory over several generations of open, contineous and uninterrupted occupancy
(See Part 5 for details)

Custom On Land Acquisition and Use; View on Land

According to Datu Jose Dia-on, concepis like “my land™ or “ny kaingm” dﬂ].'l]nTﬂll-‘
in the old days. Their ancestors cleared lands in groups, There were no hounduries 1}':
They felt free to move within their accustomed termtory. People from Panganil wosld
their clearing in Sinuda: those from Arakan would clear Jands in Sinuda. These WerE e
restrictions. Land was held in common for the use of all, We did not own lands ther "t:;
believed that it was land that owned the people, God created land for the PWF]":‘“:WH‘_
15, il we die we are buricd in the land. This was why our ancestors beligved that land@
the people, The boundaries came later when people from other tribes would espass
pied lands, (Sce part 3 for details. ) B

But what was the physical extent of the moving about from one kaingift [2 Pans
Added Data Melecio Man-ukil: From Kalagangan, Panganan, Digongan Koiulur iR
Marahan, Dalurong, Kitubo, White Kulaman, Sapundanon, Cabalantian and %
it the Davan sl'i-dl‘ﬂ ele. That 15 how far we g0, But |:r|1'|_:rl weithin: ['SE"E Fﬂﬂ 3 fﬂf "ﬁl"ﬂ!“'

Why not outside? Because outside, stressed Datu Dia-on, does nol belong R T

are other natives thete, Manobo communities. We stay within our group, WILHR &5
tory. (See Part 1 for details)
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Extent of Physical Occupancy

. . Very early in the genealop
Wysical extent of occupancy ; ; EY) We are tujg
-]jiﬂﬁ;;u};ahumnmi resettled themselves in various places, and succeq; the
EI:”E e contineed to live there. There are no reported contrary claimants o thege I'n:.

Inter-marriages and Inter-tribal Relations
Third, genealogy alsa indicates intermarriages with "ﬁi.E‘:hhnring i PIWHE‘
with insights and leads into how they handled inter-tribal relations. This also uu:
issue of land. . Ioucheg
Finally, we must say that genealogy should not be viewed apart from the sy 0,
namies of places. tories

Siories of Names of Places

Stories about the names of places reveal four elements: (a) the languige ussd
Matigsalug: (b the content of the stories themselves are peculiarky Matigsalug: (), in s
ries involving raditional community heroes, & historieal time depth of occupancy, may b
estimated and compared with names in the genealogy, and, {d) the physical extent of oo
pancy isell may be indicated, or how far and wide the Matigsalug have occupied ther

claired territory over several generations of open, continuous and uninternupted oceupancy.
[See Part 5 for details.)

Custom On Land Acquisition and Use; View on Land

According to Datu Jose Dia-on, concepts like “my land” or “my kaingin® did nat e
1 the old days, Their ancestors cleared lands in groups. There were no boundancs then
TI"fll’ feit free to move within their accustomed territory, People from Panganan weonld 42
their clearing in Sinuda; those from Arakan would clear lands in Sinuda, There were 8
rts-l_.ntﬁnns Land was held in common for the use of all. We did not own lands theni i
PEI{HM that it was land that owned the people. God created land for the p&ﬂ]?-]ﬂ-"m
15, if we die we are buried in the land. This was why our ancestors believed that land gkt

|.'h.¢ people. The boundaries came later when people from other tribes would “mﬂ.ﬂ
Pied lands. (See part 3 for details.}

But what was the physical extent of the moving about from one kamgim 10 3% m!-

Added [ - ; ; ;
#t Melecio Marukil: From Kalagangan, Panganan, Digongan, Rihim i

MEHh&ﬂI I;:Iallumn . }
E K._Iﬂj_hn\ White : - a lndw
on the Davao side, ate, That is | Kulaman, Sagundanon, Cabalantian and & )

o far we go. But only within: (See part 3 for deBis

Why not outside? g The
_ - Because aytsid : b
4re other natives there, Manoho ide, stressed Dat Dia-on, does not DelafB B0 g |

tory. (See Part 3 fio details, ) tommunities, We stay within our group,
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List of Tribal Leaders

The extent of physical werntory within which they moved about are reflected, foa, by
the presence of traditional leaders in various sitos and barangays. The list of raditional
leaders in these places will enable us 10 pinpoint with greater accuracy where Matigsalug
communtics might be m existence. Our listing covers all barangays. ENCOMpassing por-
nons of Kitaotzo, Bukidnon, Arakan, Cotnbato, and Davao City, as follows:

A, Kataotao: 248 mibal leaders in 14 barangays. The Supreme Tribal Chieftain
Dat Lorenzo Gawilan and his deputy reside in Barangay Sinuda.

B. Arskan. Cotabato: 18 tribal leaders in three barangays.
€. Manlog District, Davao City: 59 tribal leaders in § barangays.

D. Paguibato District, Davae City: 7 tribal leaders in one barangay.

The Matigsalug Rebellion of 1975

In addition 1o the above items, we must also include the story of the Matigsalug rebel-
bon of 1973 because the circumstances of the uprising would indicate how srongly the
Mangsalugs felr about being harassed by outsiders m their own land, about security of life
in their hiine homeland, and about self~determimation in therr own life. In defense of which
they were quite walling 1o offer their own lives.

Part 3
THE 19758 MATIGSALUG UFRISING
May - June - July 1975

Datu Lorenzo Saligan Gawilan, The Leader

It am anlormml ik dver collee b the mormime of May %, 1994 ot his residence m
swida, Kitaotao, Bukdnon, Dat Gawilan, revered leader of the 1975 Maotigsalug Kpris-
ing, revedled what it was that pushed T to make the call w arms.

Fiom May 10 to pud-July 1975, the entire Matigsalug tribe was in armed uprising,
protestmge agaimst their oppressaon mn e hands of the nich ranchers, lopgers and the govern-
mem, President Marcos responded with a general and unconditional amnesty, and with the
cancellation of pasture and Palayang Bayan beases and lopgmg concessions within Matigsalug
homeland. He also instructed Secretary Manda Elizalde of PANAMIN (Presidential Ad-
viser on Nanonal Minonties) w attend 1o the peeds of the tnbe,
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The hindsoeg OO — X

: X eted his Cursillo when news of the massacre af &
3\ B |I:L:.LJ= ,J:::hﬁr;ﬂ:, <hot in cold blood by cowboys for having IIEM}":E[*‘ ot
Matygsalug? ranch. There was & boy and a womarl, ‘ti:H:l.. among the v F::h
I.I'Jﬁ_' mtl ]%:ﬂ;::,..mg been push:d around for years now in their ““’ﬂlllnd, ﬁu’“ﬂhh
Mlljgs.; HLJ::;NGE“-:.]M' it rook some hard Ihink_ing and l:lt:l:p rcﬂ;ﬁ:.hm to reach 5 ]
SHEth;tht did. it was decisive and correctly timed. He said to hm_nulr; If f&
11:':5' :vm life to redeem mankind, then he, '-i.-'hﬂst_! Matigsalug nﬂﬁr:“g S‘Iig:.umr Teryg
st be ready to shed his own blum.i to fﬂ.:t """.‘."""“ people mm’ﬂﬁh ]
leaders and people were waling for him. This decision, Iu;;[\nl.:u part of the .
prophecy made by the tribe's baylan even before he \:‘as_hr . fillmegy
The story goes, and his Ell:l:rsis.tcr.l'jll:!-l:st among 13 siblings), Kinantas Gawilay

confirms this, that when he was still in his mother's womb, Apo Indah, the tﬂhﬂ‘-l%h,h

wes quoted to have said:

“ A gkavaras pad si Apo Addatan

Midkahi a si Apo Inda,

Amon ad lasot ika 5a igkavaras so lokas sika
Ag ngaranan ko ki Saligan

So aghkasalihan ta mauni na agkavoad™ |

[When Apo Addatan was pregnant
{with Datu Gawilan), Apo Indah
said that when that child, a male,
is born, 1 shall name him

Salipan, for he shall be relied upon
by the next generation. )

He was indeed called Saligan, meaning “reliable” in Matigsalug. He went to schoolin
Kitaoao and that was where he acquired the name Lorenzo; he got as far as grade .
Now, he was hardly the second grader that he was when he called his dlhulﬂim#
to a big meeting to discuss very difficult options; they readily responded. The whale pi-
cess was democratic and in accord with the proper tribal rituals. Mo one was coerced iné
Jotning the uprising. Those who refised to participate were not ostracized. It ‘H““md
4 half months rebellion, coordinated, simultaneous, in Matigsalug land in m 3
Cotabato and in Davao City. Since the government refused to listen to thﬂl.h# (g
they transmitted their complaints through the living, this time they would, as they did, 58
it their message through the dead. . .

He asked me to interview Datu Melecio Man-ukil and Datu Jose Dia-on for the oetE
[Matu M_m—uki;l. now Assistant Supreme Tribal Chieflain, was second in commsa _agia
the uprising. Datu Jose Dig-on. now Tribal Chicfiain of Sinuda, ks thaoe. 0o |

The story we relate here was told by them and by three other mmﬁ b
quote extensively from these latter documents because in themselves the writets BaVe S
;T:i:ﬁ?nm I::nd suspense of the events — the element | feared might be 10887

ra : : did &
“w““mﬁ;ai“i’;;zilyi?iﬁ 1975, The first is the account of the Fﬂ# 5 B
massacre of February 3, 1975 and fipund the bodic%
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second 15 the imdﬂ-'-'lt of a survivor of the massacre, Both narmiatives were published in
Various Reports, 21 March 1975, pp. 22-25. Fr. Urrutia Was @ veteran parish priest from
Olutanga Island, Zamboanga del Sur, and already working in Bukidnon. The third is an
overview of the minority situation — the people were restive — in Bukidnon at that time,
published in September of that year but is sull very relevant to our'story. This was written
by Fr. Vincent Cullen, 5.1, and was published in Signs of the Times, 12 September 1975,
pp. 22-30.

Massacre in Bueno's Ranch:
Unrest Among Bukidnon Minorities

Account No. I: By Priest-Investigator!

Al four m the afternoon the 3rd day of February, 1975, I was about to enter the ranch of
Mr. Valenano Bueno in Puntian, Quezon, Bukidnon The radio operator of said ranch,
Jumor Polistico, asked me to desist from entering because the manager was not around
having gone to [the town of] Don Carlos. The same Polistico told my companion, Roman
Salana, Sr., of five people killed. [ 1old them, being a priest, that T had 1o see the remains.
Roman Salana informed me in a low voice that there were five people killed. 1 inquired
trom Polisuco, Jr., for the second time and I was told: “Only baka lang ang gipatay." (Only
a cow was slaughtered.) Roman Salana, Sr., and 1 went further on and while on our way to
the entrance of the ranch we saw, about 500 meters ahead, a group of four or five people on
borseback. I shouted at them: “Asa ang mga patay?" (Where are the dead?) They did not
answer. A woman yelled: “Ambut!” (I don’t know.) I shouted back: “Do not lie to a pricst,
kay kon kamo magtago sa mga patay hinumdumi ang katulong adlaw sa Fehrero,” {if
you are hiding the dead, remember the 3rd of February.)

Mr. Roman Salana and 1 went further on and met some laborers inside the ranch and a
girl about 12 years old. | asked the girl: “Duna patay dinhi? — O asa and mga patay?” (Do
you have people dead here? — Or where are the dead?) The girl answered: “Ambut lang,”
(T don't know. )

It was already might, about 10:00 PM., when we reached White Kulaman but | told
Roman Salana that | would go on in scarch of the bodies. Roman Salana volunteered to go
further on with me.

It was moming when we reached Batay Hill. We saw the PC with the cowboys heading
in the opposite direction. I shouted an inquiry on the whereabouts of the dead but they did
not hother answering nor did they wait for us. But we followed after their tracks for more or
less two hours until we reached Kilomot at 11:00 A M,

Upon reaching Kilomot, we found two PC men with three men of the ranch and the
manager, Mr. Narciso Rausa, who was seated while taking information. There we saw a
dead man with his abdomen busted and an ear missing.

1 was about to take a picture of the dead man when one of the PC men named Eddic
mﬁhrhmught 8 “bangkaw™ (spear) near the body. 1 took the picture, "

After that, [ inquired aloud from the crowd: “Pila ang patay?™ (How many dead?) The
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" . « 1o the quick reply of

“  (Only one.) In responst to 1 the
wwered: "L hl'-:l-': :u'lﬂ'u: crowd: “siskadungog ako nga lima ang patay! M‘h‘_t
e I;J-I‘.'ﬂli Where arc I|1.-_-|_,‘.-_J} The nymgcr answersd: “wlh k::

hibato kay karon lang kam dinhi.™ (We don’t know. We just got here.)
(4451 llI ::zj m_ﬂ” i/ Nage N the 4th ol February, will be the last da}r af the ﬁt.: %
pt *. L N RL) .

Manobos, You killed this man and you Pl the “bangkaw " near hus body. Bur this map g -
A [ the 140 families expelled from Daluron

. | Perhaps this man was 00€ o :
:n: :Eﬁ:-:uh]:r"-ﬁm, ten years ago (1963). by the PC and security men of Mr. Valag,,

panagelr a
fired another question
sila? (1 heard there 2¢ fi

Bueno.

1 further 1old then: wyou do not know that cight Manobos were killed by the fmﬂl‘ﬂ

Foriich when the late mManolo Fortich was etill alive. This fact tllm_sgh mot hll:mn 10 all of
you was taken from the Manobos’ late grandio ks and are Ti-:li..ﬂd their grand:hj]ﬂmu_mh
not the only man you killed here. Here you are used to liﬂlmg Mn:h:_rbus and do not ey,
bother to bury them. Even Gav. Fortich found a “kalabera {skull) while hunting on a Goog
Frday.”

“You PC men, please
thunk you have been bought

do not take meat nor pesos for your work. The Manobos trly
by M. Valeriano Bueno or by the Manager. The Manohos ae
afrad of comng here to lestify because they will be killed. You do not understand. You wi|
be the firet victims as it is today happening in Cotabato, Lanao del Norte, Lanao del Sur and
Zamboanga del Sur. The Manobos are thinkimg you do not dispense justice at all — "Ulipon

karmo sa mga sapiang dautan. ™™ (You are slaves to rich evil-plotters.)
I pointed to the manager and asked: “"Who are you and he answered, 1 am the man.

ager of the ranch.” | asked: “Where's the judge? Is there no other better than you to take
information on this case? | suppose if | were not here today, all of you will be Haoly, Angeles
kame tanan (like Angels you would all be.) Valeriano Bueno would be holy and only this
man killed would be the cnminal.”

“Dio you not know that in White Kulaman, Manobos are starving because what they
have planted are eaten by the herd of the Holy man Valeriano Bueno? This moming I found
a couple, husband and wife, rembling in cold for they were the whole night upon the
ground trying to protect ten square meters of com they had planted with their hands from
grazing catile? They do not molest the catile for they are afraid of the guns of Valenato
B_eno’s cowboys. [ wall not leave this place until [ find the other four bodies. Please look
for the other four dead bodies,”

Salana and a I'C started to look around. After ten minutes, Ronmn Salana found the
body of a boy about 12 years old, dead by a bullet through his back and whose body Wi
hidden by cut branches. The body was about ten meters from the former dead body. Be-
iy the two bodies sat the manager, on a prominent rock. Previous to the 1-TII:I51-':|I'|:'fIh
E . h“";u:[m man, Boy Gonzales, was sitling on & place less than a meter from whef®

boy's body was found. Opposite him was a cowboy standing with his bolo.

The PC man said- *We are already hungry, Father!” Then | answered, ' it
manager within hearing of the crowd: “Yes, you go b e p]wﬂtﬂ‘ ]
bury the dead.” i baed b ol O

The man : .n“['&l-
. iy lf;::::ﬂ H“:::us;ﬁa to help them bury the bodies and 1 reacted

Further, T went on: “You may ves fnr:_,uuwrf'l.'h:ungs who killed them—

2 o, but [ will stay 1l you bring the cowboys for 1

64




June 1999 B. R RODIL

gation.” One of the PC men replied: “Yes, Father, we will came back this afternoon.” But
they did not retum.

It was almost night when we headed for Batay Hill. But the coOgon grass was thick. We
ha to slecp in the farest, shivering in cold from the night fog,

The following morning, twenty four hours after, with nothing in our stomach, we prO-
cezded to White Kulaman. Some Boholanos fed us, I took the chance to meet the people of
Kulaman. [ saw them thin, sick and desperate. According to them, even their camotes are
daily fed on by the cattle of Mr. Valeriano Bueno. I took picture of a herd of sixty actually
about the barmos st that time.

I talked with nany Manobos while at White Kulaman, They complained of the robber-
g5 of Mr, Valeriano Bueno. T invited thetmn to come with me and make slatements of thair
complainiz,

Account No. 2: By Survivor’

When we were living 1n Dalurong, Kitaotao, our house and all propertics were burmt by
the cowboys of Bueno. We fled to Kitubo, Kitaotao but there, sinee livelihood was hasd, we
transferred to Maro, White Kulsman.

Last Japuary 31, 1975, Olipio Cabanto from Kitubo, Kitaotao, went to our house at
Maro to ask for help for his kaingin in Kilumot Creek. He said that “two days from now, [
would like you to help me in my kaingin at Kilumet. Tomorrow, I'l1 go to Kitubo first to get
provisions. February Ind, I'll be back. Proceed from Maro to Kilomot and I'll meet Vil
there.™

On the moming of February 2, 1975, my wife, Juliana Manlibangan, our only child and
myself, together with Urbano Mansig-anan, his wife, Clarita Mansig-anan and their two
children set for Kilomof,

At Kilomaot we found Olipio Cabantao already there working and cooking cow’s meat.
We became fearful upon seeing the meat. Urbano Mansig-anan asked Olipio Cabantao:
“Asn ka nakakuha ug kame? (Where did you get the meat?) Olipio Cabantac answered
“that on our way to Kilomot ¢arly in the momning, we met a cowboy smewhere in Batay
Hill, He was on horseback armed with a rifle.”

Qlipio Cabantao met the cowbay, The cowboy asked him: “Asa ka man gikan? (Where
do you come from?) Olipio answered: “Gikan ako sa Kitubo” Then the cowhay further
asked Olipio; * Asa ka man paingon? {Whete are you heading?) Olipio answered: “Paingon
ko sa Kilomot kiay magpasakom ako ugmang adlawa (February 3, 1975), kay karon moabot
and akong mga pag-umangkon nga motzbang kanako pagsakem.” (1 am heading for Kilamot
where T will work {farmi) tomorrow, There my relatives are also heading to help.) Then the
cowboy asked: “Asa ka man moagi?” {(Where will you pase?) Olipio answered: “Dinhi ra
bay sa Kilomot." (Here, on the way to Kilomat™)

The cowboy told Olipio thal there was a dead cattle nearby and accompanied him to
Where the carcass was. The cowhoy told Olipio to strip all the meat from it,

Clipio got the pairs of hind-legs and fore-legs plus the liver. [t took him a few hours
10 transport the meat from Batay Hill to Kilomot,

After the story of Lipic Cabantao, we helped prepare the food believing that the meat
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I
he cowboy 0N horscback umk{ai with a rifle, During u-.F pre S
was given B B 5 01, Baybayin Mansig-anan, who was yet swimming .+ We

. v for the © 2 : 0 the
':“T:FJ ‘rl-ljlll-u.nt'h at around two 0 clock in the alternoon. e
& [:‘:.l:lr::nl.nd 100 PM., we were surprised to hear a gunshot and find Olipig

Then rapad {ires followed. We fled 1n terror, All our spears, hﬂﬁhlg_ mﬂ;huh
dead ; LI:,T:lIs and clothes were left beluind. . l"i!m
tmw:;;: running for life, 1 felt pain on oy back. | felt it with my hand apg rmblw
| went on runmng‘umunii hiamo - _—
Amving at my house i Maro, | saw Urbano a y wife who was alsa
We staved mn the house for eight du}'? mﬂm“l medicine till fetched g nm-,,,:q
mn who was ordered by a Sgt. Oche 1o fetch us

dccount No. 3: Unrest Among Bukidnon Minorities'’

During the last year or so the peace and order situation among the :ﬂfmimur
Bukidnon has deteriorated noticeably. While the latest statistics are not available 1 the
writer, it should be noted that the cultural minorities, Bukidnon in the north and Manche &
the south, make up approximately one fifth of the 528,000 population of the Province wig
about 70,000 Bukidnon and about 30,000 Manobo as estimate. Hence a problem WVl ving
such a large number 15 not an nsigmificant problem.

The causes of this unrest, apart from certain cultural characteristics which have made i
difficult for these people to adjust 1o fewland culoare, are of long duration and are mamly
associated with the loss of their land to the lowland population. In the past twenty years the
populaion of the Province has more than doubled with the influx of lowland settlers thes

causing crowding. However, pressures have constantly been building up from the follow
g SOUrCes:

A. Ranches: While the ranches caused little trouble at the turn of the century and up usi
the Second Waorld War because of the small population, now the presence of ranches
on land which formerly belonged to the cultural minorities plus the ﬂ'lﬂmd

semetimes brutal behaviour of some ranchers has brought the situation to a bodisg
pomt 1n several areas,

1. In the White Kulaman, Kitaotao area in February, the cold-blooded = %

three Manobo and wounding of two by the cowbays of Valeriano Bueno costr>

tted 1o the violence that flared up in that area and in the Ehmdlﬂlhﬂ-#
of May-June 1975,
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I. The [irst sensilive area here is Paifan, Quezon, where the Bukidnon Sugar Co.

(BUSCO} has taken over severnl ranches and at the sime time inherited the land
conflicts between the old ranchers and (he Manobo of the ares, There are two
mixed Maonobo-lowland groups involved, nnd while the claims af sorme of e
claimants may not be valid, it is certain that this was Manobo land and that some of
the Manobo cluimants have valid claims, They have been fighting this case Tor
years, and have been subjected o different types of harassment, including several
courl ¢ases, the destruction of their houses, oy recently as 15 August 1975, when
two houses were destroyed by security guards of BUSCO. The Manobo are will-
gt mwve o the periphery of the plantation, and there is ranch land available for
them, but despite promiscs nothing seems (o gel done, This could lead fo real
trouble in the near fiture, 1¢ is interesting that while considerable money must
hove been spent on feasibility studies on this project, there i liithe evidence that
any study was done conceming the local population, os was done in the Bicol
River Bagin Project,

AXX

C. Corn and Rice Production Projeet: The order requiring agricultural companies o plant
cormn nnid rice, especially the logging companies, is a major cause of unrest among the
eullural minorities in the Province, While the cultural minorities put up with the log-
ging companies working in the nree they considered their land as long as they merely
oul timiber, it 18 quite clear that they will not tolerate them taking their land, especially
ifit is eultivated or even second growth forests, because they have put work in on the
nren, Howewver, this ig exactly what o number of logging companies have done in sev-
eml nrons.

£

Simod, Kitwotae: Kalinun Timber Co, took over land cultivated by Manobo and
selllers, This was one of+the causes of trouble in the area, which seems to have
been remedied by having Kalinan move their project elsewhere.

Dumasilag, Ganmt, San Fernando: Naradeco ook over areas belonging to Manobo
anl setilers and set ofT a wave of burning and killing in the area during the months
of Moy and June, 1975, While the Manobo bave “surrendered,” there are no clear
indlications that Naradeco has mended i18 ways. The company promised the Manobo
& share of the harvest from the area they occupied, but secording (o reports has
since reneged on ils promise,

Nam-nom, San Fernando: Valor Lumber Company tried in 1974 (o lake over culti-
vated land of setilers and Manobo and ol ambushed for their pains. There has

‘since, recently, been a mass “surrender” of Manobo in the area, and he company

seems to be walking sofily,

Kaotnblaran, San Fernando: In 1974 Valdenamn Logging Company tried some-
what the same thing; a bulldozer driver was killed by a Manobo for bulldozing his
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crops and a FC vehicle was ambushed. The company hastened to thake Peren
{he area is still sensitive. The company has bought up land, in Some H'fn;u:
land speculators in the Sila-i area and apparently plans to plant sugar View
the land shortage sround sitio Dalacutan and farrly recent violepge h%nf
Rizalian proup and the authorities because of a m.'nch-acquir:d_hy nl“-kﬂﬂ'l“uu],:
Co. in the area, trouble could break out there also. It is recommended that in i
of growing land shortage in Bukidnon, that pastire leases especially on iy
tural lands be not granted.

The Matigsalug Uprising .
[As told by Datu Melecio Man-ukal and Datu Tose Dia-on]

About Their Land"

Datu Jose Dia-on: In the old days, our ancestors did not speak in terms of ‘my land® byt
rather of "my kaingin® or ‘my clearing’. They cleared lands in Broups,
Before clearing, the datus were called together o do the miagsungeod @
kamanga: to decide where to do the clearing and to conduct the necessary

rituals for the success of the undertaking. There were po houndaries in
thoss days.

People from Panganan would do their clearing in Sinuda; those from
Arakan would clear lands in Sinuda, There were no restrictions. Lind
was held as common for the use af all,

We did not own lands then; it was belisved that it was lund that owed the
peaple. God created land for the people: The truth is, if we die we am
buried in the land. This was why our ancestors believed that land owned
the people. The boundaries came latet.

E:Eaus: ane E‘I,TEI“P “"f!ll.ll-lj 1]'|:5]'l|q55 u:"_-. ﬂ.:c“pied turritmim md lriﬂl-lh

the interests of other groups, groups became enemies. This was:
boundaries becane NECESSArY.

It was in order to protect our ancestral domain that we united to 0ppo%
the r_ilnch of Bueno in Dalurong, in Kibalang, in Patag, in Ehﬁﬁfm‘.ﬁ
Bukidnon and in Davao, We fought for two months, mwﬁﬂdm
days, until President Marces returmed our ancestral homes mﬂ]_m.d_.s'!"’"ﬂ
us full and unconditinnal armnesty in July 1975, :

Datu Melecia Man-ukil: T shal] 14

e
2 d to the story of Datu Jose Dia-on. Th-‘lmd g5 GO4

ve, I do ot remember having received this from any man. :ﬂwﬂﬂ
Wi pave this ta us, There is no story from uwmmﬂ

-

from the S84, o from Cebu, or fram Manila, or ﬁm.ﬁmﬁdﬂ-
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Radil:

Map-ubkal:

Radil:
Man-uldl:
Rodil:
Diz-amn:
Rodil:

Crin=omn:

The staries of our gncestors are that we came from here, From Sita; from
Fanganan, from Kiulum, from White Kulaman, from Dalurong, And we
liave been moving about here. We have lived here and opened our kaingins
here. Afler one kamgin, we move to another place.

The Bisayans remain sedentary in one place. With us, we change resi-
dence; we also change our kaingin, Which is why we do not have perma-
nent planis like cocomuts, durian and so on. We move from place to place,
from Salalayan, to Sangpiaps, to Kahusayan, to Tawas.

This iz our culture, My family has lived in Misagoksok, in Kalam-Kalam,
m Dialurong where I served as barrio captain, in Sita where [ came from.

Itis a good thing that Date Gawilan thought of unifying us here in Sinuda,
What is the extent of this moving about”? How far?

A5 far as Ralagangan, Panganan, Digongan, Kinlum, Patag, Marahan,
Dalurong, Kitubo, White Kulaman, Sagundanon, Cabalantian and
Campo Uno on the Davao side; That s how far we go.

Condy within & given tegrifory?

Yes, only within,

But why anly within. Why not outside?

Because outzide does not belong to us...

What deo you mean by "ours™ and “theirs'™!

There are other natives there, Manobo communiliss. We stay within our
group, within our territory...

When we move about, transfer from one cleanng fo snother, we are acty-
ally preserving our lands, we prevent landslides, and we also do not
touch certain forest areas, like Malambo, Lantiwan, Kibondo, because
they are sacred to us,

But when logging companies came, they destroyed even our sacred places.
Ohur moving about was alse our way of keeping outsiders from intruding.
Sao that we protect our place, our forests for our children and our children’s
children. So that our medicinal plants would be preserved. It s from the
forests that we draw our Iivelihood.
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Radil:

Dig-om:

The Rebellion™

Man-uksl:

oo ol g 10 other places because there are Mansakge i

: he
Talaandig, and so 0T We have been moving about Since &gﬁh‘h

of
ancestons. e

you said that it is God who owns this place, not you. Wigy 5
about that? iy
We say that because from the time of our birth, we already bets &
belief. We also know when to nuake our clearings, we know the right g
to 20 ON JOLIMEYS, We have our guide in the alimokon. If the ali I"""
makes a sound before we reach the landing at the foot of the stairs, w4
nat proceed.

At the time of the clearing, we are guided by stars which gerye Bt
calendar, No government has taught us these; neither have the Bisaying,
This is why we believe that it was God who gave us this place,.

My name 1z Dat Melecio Man-ukil, Assistant Supreme Tribal Chieflain
of Sinuda_ I shall tell you about Barangay Dalurong. It was 1954 when|
wias chosen to be the teniente del barrio of Dalurong. In 1955, someoas
from the Forestry came bringing some papers. It was a petition and the
Forestry fellow asked me if [ wanted the release of my bamo. I said yes,
sit. And he said, if you wish this barrio released, sign this. We prepared
this petition without prior notice so that it will easily be approved, 1said,
sir, we did not file any petition. The forestry man sajd [ prepared the
petition precisely to help you.

And so, although I did not fully comprehend the matter, T signed. Indoed
the petition said that we, the residents of Dalurong, were Pﬂﬁ“mw
release of our lands, mcluding the barangay site so that Fm]Jﬂ"h":

miay be issued for our lands and our residential lots. Little did T realis
that underncath the several sheets of paper, it also said that | eonse
that I“_‘I::Iun:mj; b made part of a ranch.

So, one day two mont

B.-rjn..-
cowbaoys were drivi

inke
jgued 28

hs after, thers was a commotion i the ;
thie <ot ng their cantle into our barrio, maTE 5 :
R 2one. [ protested but then the cowhoys said dﬂtg:::h + o
i ¢ W.ﬂm ranch. And when 1 said that I did not gign ilj.‘.l"l"ﬂ
s Was Shown the paper that I signed. And there it was-1TE8 80 o
onsent. The catt]e destroved aur crops, our plants, w.:::ﬂ?ﬂ

i thing b
the Mayor, g the Governor, to President Macapagal N

Pened,
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Mot ]ﬂﬂ_ﬂ after, caitle called Santa Trudes wers brought in. These were
huge animals. They destroyed our fences, the fences of our rice and cormn
fields, our camote. So, in the next four years, wo could do nothing, They

could not drive us away because there was no agreement thal we should
leave.

Then cowboys killed Manobos whe supposedly steal and butchered their
cows, Indeed a cow was buichered. But a cowboy old the Manobos tha
the cow got stuck in the mud and died and they were fold to butcher the
animal. So, a group of Manobos, including their women and children,
helped themselves. And they were massuered by the cowboys, allegedly

for stealing the cow. That was when we slarted to think of fighting back,
or of revenge.

Datu Gawilan called the datus together and told them they would have to
violate the laws to find freedom. And the datus agreed and we called aur
group “Pundok sa Kagilag ug Panimalos Laban sa Yutang Natawhan,”
meaning roughly, Association for the Defense of Qur Ancestral Land,
That was how we started.

Datu Gawilan got a picce of rattan and tied seven knots. Each day, a knot
wis cul away and at the removal of the [nst knol, all notives in Davan,
Bukidnon, Butuen, Paguibato, Kibawe would make their moves, simulia-
necusly. So, on the seventh day, Datu Gawilan took 8 red chicken and
splattered all weapons with its bleod, no guns, only bows and arrows,
bolos and spears as a sign that it was us who were fighting for our ances-
tral land.

And so, n the end B30 people were Killed, and 6ED were wounded. in
Butuan, in Paguibate District, in Bukidnon, in Kibawe, in Davao, in
Cotabato. Mo ene was here in Simado, We all went to the forests. Those
working in the logging companics left, (oo,

Dur demands were carried by letters placed on the body of the dead. The
soldiers picked these up, We said there was no need to look for us in the
forests because we were (o be [ound near the roads, But if they came after
ug, we were eady.

The letters reached General Olano, General Ahorro, then Secretary Juan
Ponce Enrile and eventually President Marcos, The President sent Manda
Elizalde to find us, We instructed one datu to show himself 1o Elizalde in
White Kulaman. And that was how Datu Gawilan met with Elizalde in
Gmudi,
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Rodil:

Man-ukil:

Rodil:

Man-ukil:

Rodil:

Man-ukil:

Rl

1|ir|:|] :{
z Al

‘J.‘H& |
9o, everybody congregated in Sinuda, from Panﬂﬂnm
t'ru:m Kiulum, from White Kulaman, from East Dal

ﬁ'ﬁm o
1
: MTiy
Dalurong, from Sapgundanom, from Cabalantian, from 1 Bs [r.n?.:;ﬁ‘:.t

and from Kibalang, and from Malabog or Allon in Davao, n'mﬁg;‘l?thl
and from Magpet. "“hllu_
And so we were brought to Malacafiang, to President Mg

to stop the rebellion: President Marcos signed an a - We sy,

and he ordered Datn Gawilan fo go back to our ancestry] hjsr;ﬂ -;sz'.“1
PE:I;!-]]I:: to do what 15 gﬂﬂd, tell them o p[anq Ptmmcnt.ﬁﬂ?g:phi F"-':
qend our children to school, He also cancelled all pasturs ang |, Fie,
leases in West Dalurong, East Dalurong, White Kulaman, Caba H-E&?'

Gutalid, Patag, Kibalang ang the Palayang Bayan in Smudg
Who owned the ranch?

Safarians [Valeriano] Bueno. The pasture leases were cancelied. Villaig
Kibalang, Swson in Patag, Fuentes in Cabalantian, Kulaman Valley ind
Gutalid. Bueno's ranch was something like 2,000 hectares, £o the cew.
boys told us, extending as far as East Dalurong, ‘i.?l.?l:st]:la,]ll;j,-q:..;hg,4."],|":,ndlI1
Siamb, White Kulaman, Gutalid, and Pinanubuan. Alse in barrig Elitahy,
Sinaysayan and Kipolot,

That is what happened in 19735, That is why we commemorite July 14
15-16 when we attained our freedom. That is my story about Dalurang,
was painful, the cowboys bumed our houses, destroyed pur fences pre- -
tecting our crops. Don't you find it painful? We generally ask puess o
tuke off their shoes when they come inta our homes, and when they del
and bring the mud in, we feel bad. ..

What about the story about the pregnant woman...?

It i& true, she was killed, too... The cowboys, 111&}"35“-’5'?& mﬁ i:i
stealing the cow... But think, sir, a pregnant woman stealing 8 S G
there was a plan. A child was able to escape. We asked him

.. el
pacents were killed. He told us that a cowboy wentto their place S%5C0
them to butcher the dead cow (hat got stuck in the mud,. 20d 565

WERL..

- l!.lh"i'
Before the time of the ranch and the fence, where did thep
Inside. T was the barria captain. .

You said tenjente del barnig.,
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[haa-omn:
Man-ukil:
Rodul:
Man-ukil:
Foaxdal:

hlan-ukl:

Ruodil

Man-ukil:

Rodat;

Man-ukil:

Dia-on:

Rodil:

Dia-on:

It was temiente del barrio hefore, then it became chairman, then caplaim
I'served there for a long time, from 1954 10 1068

When did the signing happen’?

The sigmng happened in 19558

When did the ranch and the cows come in?

[ signed before the end of 1954. The cows were brought in in mid-1955.
The cowboys would burn our houses within the ranch in their atiempt to
drive us away and they would sccuse us of doing the burming.

What is the connection between these and the reported arrests of Datu
Gawilan?

Datu Gawilan is regarded as the father of all the natives, In order to take
hum away from us, they accused him of anything, bad deeds, just to elimi-
nate the source of strength of the tribe,

Do we have details of these arrests?
We will ask Datu Jose Dis-on o contmue the story

This is the connection berween the incidents at the ranch and the arresis
here in Sinuda. The first barangay captan m Sinuda was Paguito Uban,
Then in the election of 1972, Aki Cabugsa ran. He was the podsom of
Datu Gawilan in marmage and that was how he won Cabugsa was an
Honggo. Now that he was in power, he drove away the Matigsalug from
Sinuda.

When was thig?

1972, He would keep away the Matigsalug from Sinuda and allowed only
the Nonggos and Bisayans 1o settle here. Then, one day he burned a house,

then reported Datu Gawilan of perpetrating it and charged him waith ar-
S0,

When martial law came, he accused Datu Gawilan of keeping o gunina
cave, Because he was Datu Gawilan's gosdson, the law believed him. Dut
Datu Gawilun did not have a pun; he has never been iterested i guns
But he was put in jail for the second time, at the Malavhalay Provineial
Jail. The first was for arson, then for the keeping a gun_..,
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There was no rebellion yei?

Not vei. But that was how the case at the ranch and the ATEStS ang i
of Datu Gawilan got connected. Already appeals were sent g the oy
ment in Manila, 1o President Macapagal, in connection with H:u:h-_h
5 . i for the third o
and Sinuda... He was due for arrest Lor L i, for lﬂ!l'ﬂnng
Jusi

1o get rid of him...

What Datu Gawilan did was to go to the forests and from there ST mpy.
sages 1o the datus to cone for u meeting there; it was na longes safe iy
Sinuda.... :

In addition, there was also the Kalinan Timber Corporation or KT owTEd
by Consunji. Many Matigsalugs were mauled by the security men of iye
because the former did not want the trees in Lantawan o be cut dowy.
Lamtawan is sacred to ug and we commemaorale this with rituals every
year, just like Sumalili mountain, and Kibando, too, and Kiinlod
Matigsalugs were also maltreated at Buda. K'TC, too, was bumed. Asd
Datw Gawilan and his men were accused of doing 1t Datu Gawilas was
in Sitio Sangeiapo then, his wife was in Santa Cruz and traveled i
Salalayan. They met four days later al Sanggapa.

Al the meeting, Datn Gawilan clarified why we must leave our hiies
We reflected on whal was happening to us, We felt that we were being
nccused of killing people. Datu Gawilan stressed tlat he was nol goer=
ing anyene. He who did not want to join him could alwoys go Trtsme. Amd
he would give certification for those who did not want to juiﬂ-mh"‘
course would have to stay in juil because they would sucely be jaiked B
he would fetch them e moment the ubjeciive hns been attained.

And that is what happened. Those who did nol joln us were put to jid
When we decided (o stop the rebellion, on July 16, we fetehed all 'lh"ﬁ:
ncarcerated. Amd those were the reasons why we ehelled. W ware!
search of justice, we wanted 10 recover our ancestral damain.

Back to KTC. Datu Gawilan brought 20 dams with him 10 Mﬂ
lll'l_u: of surrender 10 President Marcos. The President #5855 “’_
Elizalde where he landed his helicopter and Baron plane.Al the hﬁ:f i
I-'.huid': replied. Right thete the President ordered that that Eﬂ;uhﬂr
highway should be preserved us 2 crash landing site, and € '

itself be diverted,
A

because we believed that it was heneficial 10 U8 wi
ke a ride in trucks bearing logs to Davao City. L‘Hw’

The lease of pa
la AT : ‘T WE
tancellatiog yang Bayan was cancelled. But KTG

i l\'l.':u_r;
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Rodil:
Did-on:
Rodil:
tan-ukil:

Dia-on;

Dhiz-on;

pelan-ukil:

it was this KTC that denuded the forests, the forests where we draw our
livelibood

Who owned the Palayang Bayan?

Censumji.

How many hectares?

One thougand hectares, All the lowlands here

The lease was cancelled and the land was returned to us, President Marcos
aliegedly signed the Matigsalug Municipality, so we believed then, but
fheen we found out that this wis not so.

Also, the truth is there is a 75-horse power dvnamo given to us, it is there
in the house of Datu Gawilan in Davao City, we cannat use it because
there is no machine to run it. But the réport in Manila is that Sinuda is
now lighted. That is what happenad

Mow, this last thing that we are asking, the restoration of our ancestral
domain, we are thankful for your arrival here to do i survey on the ances-
tral domam. We hope that the “pagpangurakor” by those who helped us
mn the past would not be repeated, The case of the dynamo wilthout the
machine 15 proof of that

W have thiz uspiration becavse when Datu Gawilan surrendered, he told
President Marcos, the bravery of the Matigsalop is now yours to com-
mand, The order of the president for us to retum is well t2ken. But we
will be disappointed if our adcestral domein is not given due recognition.

Allow me to add something to what Datu Dia-on has said. [ was in the
same proup that surrendered in Manila, and T saw and heard the words of
President Marcos when he ordered the transfer of the highway to the
other side of Stmod River, This here (refering fo that part of the highway
where Elizalde landed his helicopier and Baron) was made & crash fand-
ing ares for any emergency.

Also, President Marcos gave an elementary school. And anotheér one (o
Tawas. Marda Elizalde asked Datm Gawilan whether to remove the Bisaya
and Datu Gawilan replied that they be resettled in Tawas, The 28 heads of
families in Tawas constitute the majonty there. Tt was these Bisayans
who sold their lands to other Bisayans. It was not the Matigsalug who
sobd the Lands
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Elizalde asked, too, about the Bisayans in Kalusayani

said not to remove them, That is why there were 15 1;=ad ty G‘""'ihn
families in Kahusayan. 1 was the barangay captain e lgl;u I“!ﬁlq
how come there are more Bisayans in Kahusayan? Betuie rhiqjm""ﬁ
there sold their lands, No, it was not the natives why did u]B"".'l'l:g;
There are those who say that it was the natives who dig the s 'F.'-“n&._
have not signed any deed of sale. Neither has Datu Gayijy elling, We

But that is one of the things we hear around hers, In B0y cage

thankfil that you came here. Hopefully, through you, Presids ?;.."
Ramos would be informed about our aspirations, that wa mdm%iﬂﬂ
that our ancestral domain shall be duly recognized. 50

Mo, we are no longer inclined to go back to armed  conflie E
want is peace, order and happiness, unity among the tribes, ¢ h“mmui;
the Matigsalugs we love, also the all the other tribes. In fict there are

American missionanes here. They came from afar but we also h‘-’ﬂﬂ:m; ]
they are helping us...

Redil: What happened to the people you killed, Wers you nol punished by te
govermmeni? i

Man-ukil & Lambayon: [This portion 15 paraphrased and unified responses from twe people]
Mo, we were not punished, We were granted full and unconditional am:
nesty. This was part of the Memorandum Order of the President canced-
ing pasture and logging leases,

Rodil When did KTC leave?
BMan-ukil: 1988,
Dia-om: There were 1o more trees to cut, It lefl us nothing but tree stumps. Tht

is why ag s00n as our ancestral domain is recognized, we shall plant
maore trees and restore our forests,

Man-ulil: May 10 was the day Datu Gawilan gave away the knotted yatan.

REndil- That was when it ctarted?

Man-ukil: Yes... then after seven days came the simultansous operations:.

Song Memorializing the Rebellion .
e
The SINGErs-Compaosers are the hushband and wife team of uﬂ%

who pliys the saluray and Antonio Tandangan, 32, who plays the Auglumg: Bof 855
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dents of Sinuda; Kitaotao, Bukidnon.™

Roughly translated, the song capsulizes the rebellion and reflects its meaning to the
Matigsalug people. They recovered their ancestral homeland through their own effort, the
entire Matigsalug rose in rebellion and Datu Gawilan is e leader, o bagani par excel-
e, Datu G & dkn = miened © as Tighusay, a Matigsalug word that broadly reflects his
role in his community, that of leader, arbiter, mediator, settler of ecnflicts, and so on, He is
revered and his people express it by making mano to him, even the eldest among them,
reaching for his right hand and taking it to touch their foreliead, whenever and wherever

they meet. Asked about this, one datu said (his show of respect is indigenous, not one
derived from Christianity,

[Matigsalug original]

Kalilimo't Sinueda
Mabanguna’t Kulaman
ik kan ta Sumalhili
Infalauwan t2 palambod
Intahuanta palaming

Inligkatan ni Gawilan
Insawsaw ta dalipaho
Inpasiyo to Manila
Insuroy ta Malacanang
Kumusta tad ki Marcos

Palad ta talausay
Idhawi at Matigsalug
Ezndin na naatawan
Koyoy, Bangoa ta ingod
[nters na pabangon
[miecong Matgsaluog

[Free English fransintion]

Kulaman is supported by it
50 15 Sumalili

Simuda showed 115 power
The enemy was immobilized

Home of Gavwdlan

For which he has shed his blood
He ((Gawilan) journeyed to Manila
shook hands with Marcos

The hands of Tighusay

The Matigsalug recovered
the land of their birth
The whole community rose

The entire Marigsalug,
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Part 4

Matigsalug View of Their History apd Glﬂlt:\lumm

Origin of the Matigsalug Tribe

In the tradition of the Manobo-Matigzalug, the origin of their

mibe wag :

Upon the blessing of the Almighty God, lie and his wife Simbal angd ihe;ir&n h"‘;
wert saved in their locality during the long drought that drjed up crecks md‘“‘;h-: ;_-jﬂh.

The Matigsalug Tribe originally lived in and occupied the Central “fiaﬁ:-.fﬁ“ .
the Pantaron mountain wherein which are found the headwaters of Salug B
River), Pulangi River, Tigwa River, Talomo River, Libahanon River Tihil:u ml'l_u
Langilan River, Simong River, and others, The original couple who hawe Tived I:Eﬂ'l
ity of Pantaron Mountain were Apo Tahoranon and his wifs Apo Simbal and theis "‘"*" |
children. ' Pl

The eldest son of Tahoranon named Apo Magdayao and his families decided i iy
the junction of Salug River and Mibolo River He identified Wirnsalf aa Mﬂﬁmlun;t:
ariginally they were Manobo, The rest of his brothers and sisters were ECiﬂe.r'ndmd,'m':
in the places. Later, their succeeding generations branched out and bcfﬂﬂtﬂ-h:nuwnumﬁl,"
Pulangi or Pulanguihon, Tigwahanon, Matig-Talomo, Tinanznon, Kulaminas, Mang:
Langilan, Matig-Libahanon, Matip-Tahalawan and Matig-Simong, Matig mmmgn-,llj:ﬁ.'_.'-l
cating where a person lives. There are also those who classi fy thenselves as the TH:—ugﬂ‘
tribe which means the “real owner of that territory”, This is the legend of Talo-mpod me |
nicipality of the province of Davao del Norte and many others.

The rivers, creeks, trees and mountaing were named by Apo Tahuranon throsgh b
guidance of the holy spirit. Most of the names of the barangays or places are depved o
the name of rivers, créeks, trees, stones and mountains and the names nf'prm‘ri].:ﬁ:ﬂtlﬂ__:

leaders, except a few such as Sinuda, Tawas, Buda, Lorega, Salumay, Gamhodis, Bagailae
and Mantanakil.

Long Time Apo

In the old days, no ene lived in Simod Valley { Dalag ta Siniod inour Wﬁ“jhmﬁ
s was solely the hunting ground of our ancestors., During the Lime of Apo M pulh
wha first lived in the junctions of Tulos River and Simod River now called Bars! d
there was his sister named Ape Nuda a pretty, brave and wise woman. She W2 e
female equivalent of a dat. She was sought after not only for her skills in 8ot ... When %
She was especially famous because no bagani was brave enough to EEHBH? s
died, she was buried in Simad Valley. In the year 1975 the PANAMIN 6888 £ gl
supervision of Secretary Manda Elizalde Jr. He named Simod into SENUBA S
Apo Nuda. Officialy this is now called Barangay Sinuda, Kitaotan, BUSSIS. gg

Baranpgay Tawas, formerly known a5 barangay Gunipong derived from L= A
creek, was renamed in honor of Apo Tawas, the grandfather of Daty Madet gimeod Vet
the respected tribal leaders: When he died he was buricd at the junction of SIS

T8
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Gunipeng creek.

During the early 50z, Kalinan Timber Corporation (KTC) had a logging operation here
in Simod and established a lopging camp at the junction of Tulos River and Simod River,
the border area of of the three provinces of Bukidnon-Davao and Cotabato, so the loggers
called it BUDACO because their camp was established al that spot. Later, this was known
ae BUDA short for Budaco.

[n'the year 1975 ﬂllljilg PANAMIN fime; the recopnized Supreme Tribal Chieftain of
the Matigsalug Tribe, Datu Lorenze B. Gawilan was authorized by ihe late President
Fexdipand E. Marcos to negobate with rebels to retum to the fold of the law, In complinnce
with the order Datu Lorenze Gawilan persuaded a rebel known as Alias Commander Neno
Sulilawan and his people of Claveria, Misamis Oriental to lay down their arms. They agreed
gnd were resetiled at what 15 now called Barangay Lorepa, Kitaotao, Bukidnon, The name is
derived from Lorenzo Gawilan,

Anether discontented group was Commander Kekit (his real name: Kekit MMagaling)
Commander Bentoy (real name: Anloan Bentoy) and Commander Disalan (real name: An-
tonia Dhsalan), all residents of Kalangagan, San Fernando, Bukidnon, Dats Gawilan talked
them successfully into surrendering. He invited Rev. Amold Buenafe to assist them in their
settlement area. This is now called barangay Gambodis, Arakan, Cotabato, derived from
Gawilan, Magaling, Buenafe and Disalan. Commander Bentoy resettled at Epol a name of
the mountain which is now a sitio of barangay Baganihan, Marilog District, Davae City.

Barangay Dam Salumay, Marilog District, Davao City was named Salumay, the recop-
nized Tribal leader, wivo was tasked by the other tribal leaders, to safeguard Mount Malambo
from amy forest destruction considering that Mount Malambo is one of our sacred places.
Also, barangay Baganihan, under Marilog District, Davac City. Its name is derived from
the name of 2 “single big stone” which our great ancestors used in their nituals, especially
when we needed blessings from the goddess of war to overthrow our opponents, Bagani
means warmar, and Baganihan means a place of warrior,

Matigsalug Genealogy

Starting from Apo Taburanon, the genealopy of the tribal chieftain of the Manoha
Matigsalug is traceable back to 51 generations. Based on the universally accepted standard
of 30 years per peneration, this easily stretches to 1,580 years of continuous or uninter-
rupted occupation of thelr ancestral territory.

The Manobo Matipsalug alzo believe that in the beginning God created heaven and
tarth, and the first human beings, Adamand Eva, were the ancestors of all human beings
|I-1H'.I:IE on earth.

Apo Adam and Eva begot sons and daughters, their youngest son being named
Damlasanon, who got marricd to Apo Day-asanon, the daughter of his elder hrothers. Apo
Damlasanon begot sons and daughizrs who multiplied mie genemmhons ag fime passed by
urtil it reached Apo Nowaan whom God ordered to build a ship wherein only he and his
families were saved in the fime of the great flood.

After the flood, Nowaan begot three sons named Apo Sanginiyan, Apo Dam-isanon
a0d Apo Maalom, His wife was Apo Lingunayan, Apo Maalom begot Apo Daliknaan; Apo

begol Ape Mandzangyaan; Apo Mandangyaan begol Apo Makinay; Apo Makinay

)
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/|
ay: Apo Olapiy begol ?:1':|I|uru!1t'.it. Apo Sahanding hepog A
Tﬁﬂﬁ.ﬁﬂ h}llsgul Apo Dk nu:.'{a’:li"l‘ |i“""‘]“._?hh'f1¥.ﬂ : I'Ji.b]l"v_i.ln||_.-=:u.r.'|uu:,-.-'f:::;r"“"lﬂhqtlai
: v Lanvni;, APO Gawatanon begotl ApO :| uang Ao Libuan h‘*—‘L‘,uI A.p:.{m
hegot Gawa begot Apo Ungkuban; Apo Ungkuban begot Apa py) D’M
Apo D:}'am”;_t.;ni ipu Lambasanon; Ape Lambasanen bepol Apo '|'ll1u;|.}r1u"h“m Aug
M"lll.!;-lll:,_:rliu\ﬂni also the time of a great fa ll.!|!1.|:. -"'n]'h:i.:I :l'i1'|=.|:L:.r h::'%m Apo m”d'ﬂmu |
Mindagyuan begat Apo Dikunlay; Apo Dikunlay ILgul .."';]:I-D Tukilun: Apo Tﬂhlﬂ.h’::_
Apo Tiklayan Apo; Tiklayan begel Apo [-mnm.lm:u. ;‘ﬁ.r:-ln Ammintao hepol Apg g |
Apo Sangkuin begot Apo Sandipal; Apo Sandipal begol Apo Livuan; Apo ij“*h“t"b‘
Apo Tukisan; Apo Takisan hc?;u:ﬂ Apo ]nnngk-:_Jh. Apo Inangkop bepng Apo My “"‘iﬂlq
Apo Manbatalan begot Apo Diyampan; Apo Diyampan begol Apo H““'“‘-"Eﬂh: Apo ey
onpon begot Apn Mandumpiyas; Apo Mandumpiyas begol Apo Mansilagan; Apo Mutsilgsg
begot Apo Tahuranon. .

Al the time of the famine there was a long drought that dried up all spiings and ey
Apo Tahusanon got married lo Apo Simbal and begot Apo Magdayvao; Apa G'I"“lli'l-lﬁ
Saybayan, Apo Marvulan, Apo Aguia, Apo Banlak, Apo Mungnn._ﬂ po Pulisk; Apa Hllhl.
Apo Lisnaran, Apo Batooy, and Apo Abawe, Apo Tahuranon died and was burisd g the
upstream of Salug river which s now within the municipality of Kitaotao, Bukidnon,

The eldest son of Apo Tahuranon named Magdayae married Apo L_uk;iy:php and begyi
Apo Salangayan, Apo Salunay, Apo Tulalang, Apo Manligiuan, Apo Ka]mu!::m, Apo Paand,
Apo Huyana, Apo Magdayao died and was buried at the upsteam of Mibola River now
under the mumicipality of San Fernando, Bukidnon.

The eldest son of Apo Magdayao named Apo Salangayan married to Apo Salmia sl
Katindo which is now within the municipality of Arakan, North Cotabato, and begotAse
Mansirib, Apo Galisan, Apo Lumahong, Apo Lawlaw, and Apo Tam-ukanon, Apo Salangj
died and was buned at Katindo, Arakan, Cotabato. —

The eldest son of Apo Salangayan named Apo Mansirib got married 10 Apo W
of Sita, now sito of Sinuda, Kitaotao, Bukidnon, and begot Apo Mi"”ﬁhmﬂ-_,l
Nuda, Apo Kainlayan, Apo Manlabaw, and Apo Mansaanuy. Apo Mansinb dicd sad 68
buried at the junction of Sita River and Salug River or Davao River

The eldest son of Apo Mansirib named Apo Mangkahunban, mirried Apo w
af San Lab, mow a sitio of barangay Napalika, Arakan, Cotabato, and begot "*F“Ew
Ape Bit-uranon, Apo Mampapatao, and their brothers and sisters, Apo HBEE M
died and was buried at the upper part of Tulos river, now called barangay Buds < LA
District, Davao City. Apo Nuda, & pretty, brave and wise womman, nwﬂlﬂ-’u
Emmn. died and was buried at Simod valley, now called barangay Sinudd. _

u n .
m'ﬂm second son of Apo Mansinb named Apo Bit-uranon, got mmﬂlmﬁnﬂ"
srvan, now called barangay White Kulaman, Kitaotao, Bukidnos, DEERE U, gy

Apo Kasanlaan, and their brothers and sisters, Apo Bit-uranon died and was
'I'J:u.r!II f;;.-, 0, Kitaotan, Bukidnon, i

| eidest son of Apo Bit-uranon named Apo Biguas got marricd 0 AF -
il;hh?ld‘nhm?m“j ed by Mantangkil of Arakan, Cotabato, and bf-Ei":'t
i the ﬁﬁyﬂmm“-ﬂpﬂﬂigﬂu died and was buried af the €855

¥ of Anopolon, Arakan, Cotabato.

a
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e eldest son of Apo Riguas named Apo salikuyan got mwsarmied 1o Apar Laling of
Cabalantian now calied ll_an‘lll.gnj- Uibalantan, Avakan, Cotabaio, begol Apa Cawilan, Apa
quhat and brothers and sisters. Then Apo Gawilan got mared 1o Apo Smaray, begni Apo
gusuran, Apo Adatan amd their brothers and sisters. Apo Adatan (1) ol marniel i Apo
Ravkag and begol Bolane, Apo Kinantas, Thonay, Manasyok, Manawan, Lusaran, Maulanya,
Tunongan and Dam Loveneo Gawilan (Saligan was his Marigsalug name; orenso was lis
sl marme ], Libdaoan snd Anlahan

Then Apo Kinantas got marnied 1o Apo Bartolome | antong, and begot Victorica, L eon,
Kuwemta, Pedro, Casiano, Ouintel, Jacinto and Rita. Then Kuwenta got murried fo Ingaod
Tumindog, and begot Moreno, Elpideo, Basilio and Esterlita. Then Morenao Tumindog, the
present tribial secretary, pol married 1o Norma Bolotols (Cebuang), begot Ciretchen May,
Jessie Roy and Jossel Ann, all hving m Sineda, Kosowo, Bakidnons

Ihonay and Man-uyao Dunacon begot Cosma, Leonw and Pinalayan. Lusaran ani Hunay
bepal Oliva who murried Teofilo Momgmntao; Markana who maried Oy Camaid;, Cayan
who maried Dominador Ancip; Linda who married 1ito, and Pandinay who married Ledona
Man-uyao. Tunungan married Loymay Dayaras and begot Vicente who married Evangeline
Tkok; Felscimo who married Victor Bagas; Leticm who married Julieta Baguio; Debing who
married Culvat; Quiring who warned Aye, and Onit who married Momiy Makapano; Nasaro
who marmied Asiuyan Oribon ond begot Victa Oubawon who married Prarmiling Hahanae
and in tum begot Florenting, Nene and Lisa.

Then Lorenzo B, Gawslan gel mamed to Felcinna Ayobat, begot Carmelita, Monie,
Anita, Lorerao Ir, Aurclin, Roelio, Bosialinda, Erlinds, Vilma and Julleta, oll in Sinuda,
Kiaptne, Bukidnon,

Apa Gawilan died and was buried ot barangay Sapundunon, Kitaoteo, Bukidnon. Jusi
for emnphiasis, let it b pointed out that he was the grandfather of Datu Lorenzo "Saligan™ B
Gawilan, the present Supreme tribal Clueflaim of the Matigsalug Manobo tribe, Apo Suhat
died nnd was buried at barangay Malibotoon, Arukon, Cotbile,

Apa Susuran, the first son of Apo Gowilan got marred o Apo Lawayan, begol Apo
Tauma {f), Apo Kahumban, ond Apo Uding, Then Apo Touna got marmed fo Apo Adan
Camad of Kamotan, Magpet, Cotabato, and begot their only child, Ruben Camad, presently
a barangay kagawod of Sagundanon, Kitaotao, Bukidoon. Thes Apo Kabumban Cawilan
gotmarnied to the sister of Apo Adan Camad named Sidingan, bepot Punggok, Marintina,
Viztor, Jocelyn, Evelyn, Rudy, Allan and Geoffrey all living In Sagundanon, Kitaotao,
Bukidnion, Then Udtng Guwilun got married 1o Tuluean Ombon, begot George, Emilia and
Renata who are all in Simuda, Kitsotno, Bukidnon,

Apo Gapao, the secend son of Apo Tahuranon begot Apo Betawan, Apo Man-ambin,
Apo Miaray, and their brothers and sisters, Apo Gopio died amd was buried o Cirbuling,
San Fernando, Bukidnon and his wife named Koinlayian died after him and was butied ai
Dignng.un.. Eifaoteo, Bukidnon.

The son of Apo Gapao named Apo Man-amban got married 0 Ape Mainobay of
Duimasilag, now @ sitio of Sinuds, Kitaotao, Bukidnon, and begot Apo Sumandang, Apo
Sumundang begot Apo Bayo, Apo Bayo begol Apa Mainalay, Apo Mamalay begol Apao
Min:unung, Apo Mansunong begot Apo Man-uloam; Apa Mas-aloan begat Apo Fimlong,
Ape Emolong begot Aps Man-ukil, Apo Man-ukil begol Ape Danan, who was the father of
Datu Melecio Mun-ukil, the Assistant Supreme Tribal Chiellain of Dati Lovenzo B, CGawilan
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Datu Melecio Man-ukil has three wives. His children with the first wife y |

oda married to Sulutan Mandanuway; Edayan married to Sario Kad) an, lita, g

EEEU w{ailan Panganon, Dante married to Urita Balatok; Eliseo; Camars, ang . -

I do with has second wife, Carglj 05853 .
ried to Roy Snll.nd.ﬂ!n__q. !‘It‘- a1_s.t+_:n has a son Ado ifa e e
o offegpring with ns thard wife.

Part 5
Stories Behind Names of Flaces

As earlier pomted out, the Manobo-Matigsalug tribe originally occupied and habeg
that part of Central Mindanao located at the Pantaron mountain where the headwaters of
E:ﬂug F-'i"-"-'-ln' {m’ ]"_':la_'.,'a_u mVCl}, [-'Lll.'ﬂj]g'l_ H.'i."n'ﬂl', TIgwa R.'i."I-'C-T, Talomo R.J.'\I'l.‘.'..l'.,. l—-ih“hMRnt,
Tahalawan River, Langilan River, Simong River, and others. Apo Tahorinon and his wife
Apo Simbal‘and their twelve children lived in the vicinity of Pantaron Mountain.  Aps
Magdayag, the eldest son of Tahotanon, and his families decided to live in the jonotios of
Salugz River and Mibolo River. they called themselves Matigsalug, although originally they
were Manoho. [Source: Libayao Salibay, 60]

The rest of his brothers and sisters were scattered and settled m the places they wanted
Later generations, though ackmowledged Manobo by themselves and by all concemned, ie-
came kmown as Matig-Pulangi or Pulanguibion, Tigwahanon, Matig-Talome, Tinanascd,
Kulimanon, Matip-Langilan, Matig-Libahanon, Matig- Tahalawan and Matig-Simong- Mate
means taga. The last four now refer to themselves as the Tala-ingod tribe undet Jose Ell‘.llll}
and now belong to the municipality of Talaingod in Davao del Norte which was created
the time of President Corazon €. Aquino, Talainged means the “real Swner of that fem
tory”. [Seurce: Libayao Salibay, 607 |

Rivers, creeks, trees and mountains were named by Apo Tahuranon wmgﬂ*
ance of the Holy Spirit. The people lived therein the different had its own distingtion tirah
their dialect, dictions and pronunciations, but they could understand each pther MYM
the same culture and tradition, beliefs and practices. Most of the pames Dfﬂ“wﬂ.
places derived from the name of rivers, creeks, trees, stones and mountaing and the 7TE
gip'rs":!:'““ I.n'l::.a.] leaders, except a few such as Sinuda, Tawas, Buda, Loregd, Saluneh

mbodis, Baganihan and Mantangkil, [Source: Libayao Salibay, 60]

+ ﬁ;;luda Long time ago, Simod Valley (Dalag ta Simod in the Mlttgﬂlﬂﬂw .uE'l;"l
am:ﬂ“’“ no people who lived here becanse this was only the lummgﬂ“‘"ﬂ i
ors. During the time of Apo Mankahuriban who first ln"czlim ﬁ'f%

Tulos Ri : :

. n;ﬁt;u and Simod River now ealled Barangay Buda, there mmﬂﬂf e
po &, 3 brave, pretty and wise woman, She died and was hunndmsilﬂp? .
e 1 '
iki[l:mh: :e?j?ir “': fermale equivalent of a daty. She was sought am.ﬁ#.ﬂ“ 2 ¢

enough to ﬂghflh::pum& She was especially famous because ﬂﬂblﬁﬂ'i. .

Sinuda used to be a hunting ground and Bae Nuda
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very smull ¢leanng. She warned people to find her near Sumalilh mountain. This is why
Simod had very few clearings in those days. Kaingins were to be found m Sita,
K.ahusayan, in Dalurong. It was the Kalman Timber Corporation which really denuded
the area of its trees. We called Simod Sinuda after we received our amnesty in 1975, in
honor of Apo Nuda. In that same year 1975, the PANAMIN came under the supervi-
sion of Secretary Manda Elizalde Jr. He named Simod mto Sinuda in honor of Ape
Muda. This 18 now Barangay Sinuda. [Sources: Libayao Salibay, 60 & Dam Jose Dia-
on, 59 Sinuda]

Tawas. Barangay Tawas was named in honor of Apo Tawas the grandfather of Dam
Madot Tawas, ong of the respected tmbal leader duning that time who died and was
burned at the junction of Simod River and Gunipong creek. But previously this was

called barangay Gunipong, derived from the named of the creek. [Sources: Madot
Tawas, 90 & Daw Melecio Man-ukil, 57, Smuda]

BUDA. During the early sixty's, Kalinan Timber Corporation (KTC) had a logging
operation here in Simod and established a logging camp at the junction of Tulos River
and Simod River wherein it was boundaniess of the three provinces of Bukidnon-Davao
and Cotabato, so the logpers called BUDACD because of their camp was established
m the aréa believed to be boundanes of the three provinces and which included barangay
Tawaz, This was known as BUDA for short. At the time of the revolufionary govern-
ment, Davao City took it upon itself 1o create the regular barangay of Buda under
Dhavae City; this 1s part of the border dispute among the three areas of Bukidnon,
Cotbato and Davao City. [Source; Dam Lorenzo Gawilan, 74

Lorega. Inthe vear 1975 durmg PANAMIN time the recoprized Supreme Tribal Chuef-
taini of the Matigsaleg Tribe, Datu Lorenzo B. Gawilan was suthorized by the late
President Ferdinand E. Marcos (o negotiate with indigenous rebels 1o retum to the
fold of the law. In compliance with the order Datu Lorenzo Gawilan persuaded Alyas
Commander Neno Sulilawan and his people of Claveria, Misamis Oriental to surren-
der and resettled them at what is now Barangay Lorega, Kitaotan, Bukidnon which 1s
derived from his name Losenzo Gawilan [Source: Datu Lorenzo Gawilan, 74]

Gambodis. Another disconiented group wes Commander Kekit (real name: Kekit
Magahing). Commander Bentoy (real name: Anloan Bentoy), and Commander Disalan
{regl name: Antonio Disalan), residing at Kalangagan, San Femando, Bukidnon. Datu
Gawilan successfully negotiated iheir surrender. He invited Rev, Amold Buenafe to
nagist the surrenderees in their settlement area which was provided by Datu Gawilan.,
"This is now called barangay Gambodis, Arakan, Cotabato, 3 name derived from Gawilan,
Magaling, Buenafe and Disalan. Commander Bentoy resettled at Epol a name of the
mountam which is now a sitio of barangay Salumay, Manlog District, Davao City.
[Source: Dam Lorenzo Gawilan, 74]

Salurmay, Barangay Date Salumay, Manlog District, Davao City was named Salumay,
the recognized Tribal leader who was tasked by the other tribal leaders, long time ago
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- Gusasa Lake, Crus

4 Mount Malambo from any lorest distinetion considering i

G aacepey of aur sacred places. [Source: Datu Lorenz Uinwilay, 74 i
s |

Kalambe is one LMONE

nikan. Burangay Baganihan of the Marilog District, Davao Ciry i dedvg
Iiﬁlmc .;,.r“ “Single big stone” on which our great ancestors wied o gy their Froogy
Lapt-::i:ﬂfl}' when we need blessing from the goddess of war to overthpay

i i
aents, Bagoni means warrior, and Baganihan nweans place of warrior. [ Ui

Saurce: Diggy
Lorenzo Gawilan, 74]

hantangkil. Mantangkil used lo be Kilahod, part of Ancpolan, “’!:u:nﬁm}mnhuml
Municipatity Kilahod became a separate barangay. 1t was Mayor Ebon who deejju
hat Tinanan become Greenfickd and Kilahod be named Maniangkil 1o MEmorialize |y,
Maniangkil family. [Source: Datu Ambis Mantangkil, 65, Barangny Mmlﬁhﬁﬂ}

Kilahod. There was o man named Sadang. He had an elder brother who wenton b
journey, He left behind a pregnant wile who soon gave birth. Since the husband hog
not resurned, she tried 10 persuade Sadang into taking his brother's place bud the lofsey
refused. The wile took the dried navel of her baby, pulverized it and mixed i with
Sadang's nilugaw, Sndang ate this and went insane. He ran about and !qnnkluu Biew
feathers and flew about, “naglahod-lahod” in Matigsalug language. Eventunlly the rame
Kilahod describes the place where Sadang “naglahod-labod, (Source: Datw Ambis
Mantangkil, 65, Barangay Mantangkil)

. Bahuwon, Nakapkapan and Upkahong. Par of Sadong’s hang-outs was resiing at

Bahuwon, “bahu-bahu nakapkap,” or clinging to a cliff, nnd mutierg o hinself,
“Ugkahong,” his manner ol articulalion whea lie was already out of iz pusnd {Souce
Datu Ambis Mantangkil, 65, Barangay Mantangkil)

Argkan. Doroluman ig an old name. Arakan is new, When Mayor Ebon Il'ﬁ""d-h
Sarayan, Datu Kaid Lansawan, tribal leader, gave him e name Arakan, of A'kaf l.“;h_
wiis known then, reflerring to the river of the sume name. (Source: D Adibis
M!“m"ﬁi]: Ej| Eafﬂngﬂjl Mm“anﬁkll}

Lomtawnn Mounlain, According o may great ancestor, Mon-ukil when the 'mﬂmli
th'.r ACaS rose lo preat heights and the whole world was covered witli '-’i'i]-’_fﬂ- 'ﬂ'ﬁ .

litin of Il.unluwmt was reduged to the size of @ small table. And that wag gll iR
SaW, i Little spot from which to view around, Thus, the y gave it the nATE I-'="j.i|n'=

.A.I]Ij MHWI-]E'“ ih.: 1|d'E h d. jilin 1l “ g g .:"I. H'Hi."n
ukil, 57, Sinida] ad subsided, the name stuck. [Source: Dty MEEEEE

lrge following Fa.sn used 1o be a bario. There was a datu numed Gtﬁﬂhﬂ 1

art of one’s livelihood in th : s plenty B RS
degs. Th : od in those days was owning o gl
'=P=E:l ﬂu?nmmd Wild boar and decr in Tuluron, They maintained 4 B ﬂﬁ-ﬂ .
ears of m,e;i,]:]::mm when hunting. Wheneyer they went home [rom I“'%ﬂ
h'bllf Ehl.‘.],l oy |d gh-ing uF ﬂrl.d hﬂﬂg BVET the lmﬂki qf eal T
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Voung women and men left behind in the barrio of Gugass pounded rice since it was
sime to get the first taste of their rice {naglagt). Apo (Gusasa had 3 Mustim wile named
Sinulugan. The young women inquired about their catch from a dug which naturally
did notreply. The dog wantzd to proceed home but the young ladies held it and insisted
on getting an answer. Finally, the dog said “hurry up the rice pounding so that we can
hiave QUL SURPET, 5 YOU Call S8 Strung up avound my neck are several cars of wild boar
part of my master's catch.” 50 when the hunters came there were indeed plenty :}f'wilu:i
boar, They proceeded with their ritual meal (pagsawit). At noon the following day. the
ratn fell until the village of Dratu Gusasa mmed nto & take. A Muslim ran and left his
hat behind, now a grown anahaw tree. Datu Pinamaloy, a famots datu, wanted 1o marry
the daughter of Gusasa and said he did oot expect nga “baloyon™ there in Gusasa
because he intended to bring hus wife to Kitaotan in Pinamaloy — which he prompily
did. They went home to Pimamaloy but “pibaloy ang Pinamaloy™, Gusaza after" gibaloy
was now bere, After Pinamaloy went to Don Carlos, “gibaloy na usab ang balay sa usa
ka hari nga si Pinamaloy”. Apyaw who was in Quezon said “dili ako balova, kun dili
buhata ako nga kahoy™. In those days we could see the tree which we called Dangolog
and Lawzan. When the tree is ill, it bleeds, a sign that itiz a lady. When the Lawaan tree
bears frait, it means the bloed of the honey bees would not come. This lawaan tree was
felled when the bamo of Merangivan was put up, The two trees were cul up into tirmber
and used for the school but us soon a3 it was finished it was hit by a whirlwind killing
many studeats, including the teacher whe had sex with the dog and could not be de- -
tached. Gusasa was called Apo because the lakes that dot the landscape from Pinzmaloy.
This is the story of Gusasa lake. [Source: Dam Jose Dia-on, 59, Sinuda]

Skmaliti Mountain, During (he days of the great deluge, said my ancestor Man-ukil,
the floodwaters “nakasalili lamang sa tumoy sa bukid,” A second story was that in the
days of Apo Tulalang when he was in the habit of killing people, he alone had the
courdge to go up to Sumalili mountain and live there. God decided to make him his
brother-in-law if only to stop him from killing people in the White Kulaman area, in the
Pulangi territories and among the Muslims. This is why in those days, when we were
angey, we would call on Tutalang to help us out. But in the days in 1975 when we were
m search of liberation, we especinlly did not seek his support in our rituals because we
didl not want crininal cases filed againstus, The important thing is that we got back our
ancestral home, and we have discoversd better ways of achieving our goals. [Source:
Daty Melecio Men-ukil, 57, Sinuda}

Muaabang-abung and Kimanug-al, In the words of Apo Gawilan, when #po Tulalang
25cended into the heavens, Maabang-aheng was called abang, a boat, which with the
xtraordinary powers enjoyed by our ancestors could easily take them to Cotabato and
Cagayan. And when Tulalang ascended into the heavens, abang became a 1_Lu:ir. forma-
fion, Maabang-abang was also known as an uncle of Tulalang, He turned into @ stone
Because he violated the instructions of Datu Tulalang,

Kitnanug.al was also & datu in the Kulaman area. He, 100, turned into @ rock when
Tulalang went 1o the heavens, This is where Kulaman River hegins. The rock is there to
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. ! 1d moderate the flow of water from under the
g weight that wau pssm e :
nuel Lacaran, Sinuda, Anas B '-‘Fﬂlnul%t"
B onokan owing to the presence of Dagy i
oanean. There is a river called Kabigoo :

uljlgm%n::uTﬂlguﬂgm died we saw a huge hurial ground, i't!ﬂlll _ﬁ\rz Melers h"lld
& ﬂnﬂcrs wide, When peaple were persuaded by P-‘llu ﬁﬂ“ﬂ[nn in 1950 10 sety]e
Eﬂu:_-.: the burial grounds of ancestors would be inhabited by descendants. [eq.
Datu Melecio Man-ukil, 57, Sinuda] [Souzge

gerve 4s
[Sources: Datu Ma

60]

iver. Salug is where all Matigsalugs live. Apo Gapail:r. our kncestor, 18 burjed 5
ﬁ:::if;tt Salug, :_-I,;,.:.r there is a Linao, a lake, colled Kabuling. Kabuling i5 where the
srone of Malarahao 15 found, the sign tha the .Marmums .“I.urrtnd:n:d 1o Apo Gagsg
when they last fought. It is also called Davan River, Salug is the c:np:r_m,] the whale
of Marigsakug life. Which is why when we secured our ancestral domain in 1975, we
called our people Matigsalug, from the land handed down to us by Apo Gapao, our
ancestor. [Source: Dam Jose Dha-on, 59, Sipuda & Datu Vicente Mansabanlay, 60]

Kahusayan Lawari is the name of the river that is found in Sitio Lawari, Ape
Manhusayan is falaghukum or settler of big cases. When the Lumads fouglit each other,
it was he who was called upon to settle their disputes. When he died, he was baried
beside the river Lawari, And when the place was made a barrio and [ was elecied a5 the
chairmian, | renamed the place Kahusayan, [Source: Datu Melecio Man-ukil, 57, Sinude]

Misagoksok Mountain. At the time of the great delupe, Misagoksok mcurain was s
called because of the sound it made. “sagoksok.” [Source: Daru Melecin Man-ull, 37
Siouda)

Kibando Mountain. Hunting ground of Datu Kibande and sources of m]:wtl:l.l_!#ﬂﬂ like
berbal medicing, food, fish and other forest products. At the lime of a greal rain, ther

was a lindslide and Datu Eibando was trapped underneath, [Source: Dati Melecin
Man-ukil, 57, Sinuda)

Sangiapo, Salalayan, Salimbangon . The original name of Sangiapo was “pal gmii
When it became known that is has gold, it is now called Sangiapo because it is 8 80T

place because it hus gold. The same poes with “Salalayan” and “Salimbangon” [5¢
Datu lose Diz-on, 57, Sinudal

Kﬂml—hlmﬂ- lel.l. '-"!'hllT ﬂl'a.]:ll:l- Ma"dm.nn haz told e, Kalnm_ E_alm was i Wrﬁ-

lo is 1

::n;hv:r;: i Kalam-Kalam a long slope where Kalam-Kalam wnuldpll'}"ﬂ

Kalam, o Mungan was rapturcd, the slope became a hugﬁ'smnﬂ.ﬂ.lﬂﬂ'l:-
[Source: Datu Jose Dia-on, 59, Sinuda]

SR
its abundant supply of ﬁ’hﬂﬂﬁl

Dalurong, Dalurong was 4 river oo |
back Dalurong precisely bm:uu._ﬂ-ﬂ was

Buena's ranch, we really soupht to take
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rich source of fish. [Source: Daty Jose ia-on, 59 Sinud)

s At human being. At aroungd -
M]ﬂ”-“' ,MIJ'I Was 2 TE LISy 1-]-.": fime I:I-rﬁlpq:, Mm ara L -
violated the kaw of Apo Mungan. Apo Mungan wamed thy spirits l;;ﬂ':s Fapure, Arirg
sage that on that day they would be hr;.ugh: to heaven, Arir and M*u:' EIT- {1 e
| e ]I:"h]iﬂ i Mul:Em D FADHure, Asirj ang E'-'liilrir‘i Iz::-a;f: T; s
white stone which niow can be seen at Miarini [Source: Dapy Mol oo | PR
Sinuda) elecio Man-ukil, 57,

: Panganan was a hu being. The ri
75, Pangatan. Datu Fanga ; o man being. The river named Panpagar |
Migolokao. Datu Panganan died there. The place is now named PE;EE :al 5;:;:: %
of a femous dat and bagani. [Source: Datu Melecio Man-ul, 57, Sinudsy |+
46. Malambo, Among the datus, Malambo is tegarded as co
games gaught m the place are usually fat and h:ailh].-,
[Source: Datu Melecia Man-ukil, 57, Sinuda]

mrnunal hunting ground. Al
hence the reference to “malamhg®,

27. Kipilas. It is told that in barangay Kipilas there were people who were cursed by the
monkeys. The newly bom monkeys are known i the native language a3 “pilas”, or
more literally, small monkeys, Said People used to play with the monkeys and in the
course of time some became hunchbacked, others died. And this is how the place came
to be kmown as Kapilas, [Source; Datu Payan Mandanoway, Sinuda. Translated from
Matigsalug to Cebuano by Datu Cosme Lambayon |

28 Kianlod This is a all mountain, visible from Sinuda, from Dalurong, or from Marang
Atthe fime of the great deluge, it was like a floating piece of wond, ready to be swept
away anytime. [Source: Datu Melecio Man-ukil, 57, Sinuda]

. Dumamlag Damasilap was a woman named Unsilag, anak ni Apo Gapao, She was
butied at Dumasilag. [Source: Datu Melecio Man-ukil, 57, Sinuda}

30 Midsitoan. Thiz wag the Tlian ni Apc Galisan at the time of the first encounter with
Muslims. Apa Gapao had a daughter named Bac Alamoy who took the fancy of Apo
Sulisan but she said she would not marry until she received from him a bandoleer of
Mustim ears 5o weal Ape Gapao, Apo Galisan and his younger brother Lumahong in
2 “pangayaw” expedition in Lanao. They killed many Muslims. Accidentally, Apo
Galisan hit Lurnahiong with his sword, He took his palambod, threw this seven times
intis Lanag lalee but kept coming back. On the eighth time, his panipas shouted, “Do ol
egret this”, why are you leaving me behind?". Apo Galisan died n Lanao, Whll:'.:!'l. i%
whry the Muslims were invulnerable, from the amulet-shield (kubol} of Ape CGalisan,
[Source: Daty Jose Dia-on, 59, Sinuda)

ancestor of the

3 2=
- Tulalang, Regarded as the first man when the world was created. mﬂﬂ-: was widely

Matigsal ; her indigenous tribes,
& Also, acknowledged as such by other mdige
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. Gapag, Apo Gapao was buried in Kalagangan, He would not eat for a 111|:mﬂt_.ﬂ#ﬂu

- Maralun, Marahap
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e andd thete WETE i
up. il respeeted i bagant ol the entige Mani
€55 11 PCrsu really deserved il that is 1o siy he |1n:[.1h"_'*t ]
acension fe was rejected by o Wiy I;"l‘ﬂ .
covered with scabbies, Feelmg il%“'”!ﬂ
Kilhed the woman ancl her Tamily, Also, relfusal 1.1:t' m .",{,h.”_w:l 0 pay fit hmu:&;:
crime commmified Wi deenmd renson qumgh fior Killinng hivs, and this Jy

several orcasions. | [e was also s 0 the surronmding tribes for his e o
fighting abilly Because of this, many Womcn winled 1o mary hin T ing

Apo Tulaling was |poked
jle dad it k] anyone unl
ihye sucisl noTmS af e tribe. LUm oic
1o marry hecanse e -wis ugely and Wwils

He was dlso known for his excellen ability in handling people. He was a skilled fig,
ernan, & productive [urmer, and was specially endowed as o spiritual healer, ih had
ofher powers like being able 10 make his spear walk. And when he fought, the plce
hatile ancd the gurrounding arens woilld tremble. [Sowrces: Datu Jose Dig-on, Day
Melecio Man-ukil, Datu Libayao Salibay, and Dalu Lorenzs Gawilan| :

Batawan. A cousin of Apo Gapao, known for Tus extraordmary physical streagh He
Jiad o problem uproating a pugahan trec, 3 hardwood. O keeping from falling msa.
liff o tree trunk the size of two arms length. He was o bagami sod o dang He waild -
settle his own disputes with those with whom he hiad differences. Tt Clacs Bawean

of Sinwda isa direct descendant, [Source: Datu Melecio Man-ukil, 57, Emnﬂl]

respected by people; had a huge following. He was a known Muslim fighter. His s
tj'lus'ﬂag was taken captive by Muslims. Which was why the Matigsalugs and the } :'
fims had a_ﬁgm. The Muslime surrendered 1o him. This s the reason fior the blo®
compact with the Muslims where they agreed never to fight between themi ¥ hor &
mitiated a fight would be the loser, This was their oath. They allegedly cil a,_ s
T:]"]ﬂﬂ:h:-k his blood. The Muslim could not consume the blood of me
ukil, %r SEE?]UQ drained the Muslim of hig blood. [Source; Datu ecio B

Mate: i

mm’-‘mﬂﬂL@ gERNE referred to here are the Maranaos. It was Babac &

nicpality ;ELT with (he M“I“EEH]“E it the mountain ﬂFMngkiI-ngkﬂ L
slilangan, Bukiduon), The blood compact in hatigsd i

“pakinig” where :
their own wrist m both parties would sip each other’s blood from i WOEEEE

of old may he li h g
tended to can wy be likened 1o a market place i the €
verge there and draw their livelihood from there: forest PRg

game. And then
weanid h"-ﬂ'rr:rml:y."mmd be on their way, sometimes for (0 days.
woulld drnk and g hunger and thirst, At the waoter's edge al Martts

Erelief and suy “kong aq kamarahan™ or “naward & 5
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[Source: Datu Ramos Benilo, 57, Marahan]

ginaka, In the time of the great deluge, Sinaka mounmig was where all the inhabitante

of this place went for refuge, whether animals or humgy beings. This is located at the
pauindary of Cotabato and Davao, [Source: Daty Vicenge Mansabaniay, 60]

Namnam. The place where all food, from games 1o forest
delicious, "malinamnam”. No human being lived here befor
and easy Lo catch. [Source: Datu Vigente Mansabanlay, 0]

products, were' uniformly
e and wild game was tame

Panwhatan, This was c]e&r:d_h:.f Apo Buatan, He put up a hitthe bt there are deposited
his chewing kat and tobacco ingide. Tt also served as his prayer house, He lived there

ter improve his life. His harvest was good. So wag his menting, [Source: Dat Vicents
Mansabanlay, 60]

Gumitan, It is a small plain clearing near the river whers people find it most conventent
10 five. It 15 said that people here refise to stay away from each other. They keep

coming Back (o each other, The PEE'I:'E! 1% pan af b antng Dristrict in Diavan City. is'lllul'tt:
Dratu Vicente Mansabanlay, 60)

» Dalag-ayo. Nowadays, this is known as Dallag. But in the old days, this was like a

mossy place but plain, the only one of its kind found at the border between Cotabato
and Davan, [Source: Daty Vicents Minsabanlay, 60]

Kibalang, A small creek whose Strpentining curves seem like the entrails of a chicken,

itsbeginning always in sight. Datu Lamniy and Apo Lumpipi were the ones who traced
the name of our ancestor Kibalang Dayuna, {Source: Datu Vicente Mansabanlay, 50)

Lampos. Daty Paundag, futher of Bes) Paundag, used fo live there, There was 3 cave
there, When you went there it was as if someone would cup your ears and blindfold
Yaur eyes: “lamposan”, ag they say in our languags. Someone not onie of us lives (hers.
It was the instruction of Datu Ladayon and Datu Humboon and Datu Mansabanlay, my
father, niot to allow anyone to go there. Because when you ger there, you would forges
W0 g0 home, This is found.on the Davao side. [Source: Datu Vicents Mansabanlay, 60]

Kiapas-san Part of Davao City. It was 2 path on the side of 2 hill, There was an old man

¥ha wanted t reach the top of the hill but when he reached mid-way, he lnst his desire

10 proceed. Meither did he want 1o go back. This was the meaning of kiapas-san. [Source:
Vicente Mansabaniay, 60]

Salakan. There are waterfalls in Salakan, the scene of romantic escapades, where lov-
ers have discoversd ways of escapmg the notice of their parents. The men would pro-
‘"'F‘?H o the falls ahead of the women, position themselves under cover of the mists
T out of the water, with their thing sticking ont and on the ready. The women would

Cortne, Pretending 1o be yneware of the presence of their lovers and push each other

42



he M FrU__——— 2y

chance of a sexoal
Lan refers to the one € CONS Uy
. 1 Mansabanlay, 60] Tiatigg

o the watet. 50

|Source: [atu Vieen &

pOCESS:
f the person who was bom ay 1
- Mundo was the name O = bank -
o Hill o minding his own business, helpfisl and respectful 1o Ol ;f Uiz
e were vialated he wos brave and unstoppable. Later, a hill came 4, h:hlh
his N o1 ire would spEw out of it, and Mundo would conduct his rifya]y Oy

wmﬁ- wanted to kil somebody who had Rk, I?: i seu*r,‘::e].,:ih"
::I:;dnml1gan. the poddess of war for a succ essful undertaking, The name ggm, e

- otive lore as “labuntod ni Mundo” or Mundo Hill. [Source: Dat Pananglay Mat
i
ay, 4]

24, Mund
river, He grew U

45. Upian. Mundo had a sister named Piyan who was in the h&hi.t of fishing in the rivetigd
was quite successful at iL. [t came 10 be known through the “baylan or tumanurog®
riestess that Piyan was married to “Alimogkat” or goddess of the rivers and the e

Soon Piyan disappeared and it was believed that Alimogkat ook her away, The ri
where ghe used to fish came to be known as Upian. [Source: Datu Pananglay Marqy

74]

46, llizo. Refers 1o a hill which had only one entrance to the top. Our ancestors lived Soe
in times of pangayaw ar war and felt very safe, [lian means a place of safety. [Souse:
Datu Pananglay Mari-ay, 74]

47, Pinamantuan, In the old days there was a man named Ade who was knawn for hisseill
in sing the bow and acrow. A wild bird known as simalon was also known o be bkt
dodge arrows. It would usually land at the peak of tall ees like Lawaan, Almacigs, 114
50 on. But Ade proved equal to all of them. He practically wiped out the sifmalan popt
|ation. Later it came to be known that Mahonay, the goddess of the forest herself; give
hirn this abidlity. [Source; Datu Pananglay Mari-ay, 74]

4B. Sauvaan. Trees grew up in this place. Their fruits were the favorite of \h’iﬂi"'li"hﬂ
maturally tended to live there. What our ancestors would merely do was m_sﬂnﬂ""'
area and go after the pigs at will, In the native language this was *sauvall’s [Bour®
Phaty Pﬂniugia}' Mﬂl'i-ﬂ-:g'. _1'4]

b Emﬂhﬁmmﬂﬂ& A man named Pinte was an excellent huni=t ﬁ'ﬂd' plj
iy L;J’i-:f; wald merely send his dogs to after the wild boar arb! caowi
Pinte had bee b“"{":.ﬂﬁ wild animals towards his house. 1t came to Hﬂ'“’ndl
Minsiind, -.;,; efriended by "Timbalong” or the goddess L:-E‘ aJT w*@ﬁ
godkiess Frer g“mzmtﬁ informed his family that he would be 89ME Bl gt
[Source: Dayy pyyg sl world. As soon as he Finished talking, DESSEEEE

nglay Mari-ay, 74] =1

H:'- L'El.g-ﬂ“ ! s I -.
wikd g&#ut..:l:: :ﬁ days, Apo Buanay was known to have only 008 ﬂmlmﬂ_ ere

rapping, He trapped wild boar and wild decr, in PR
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was no other path for the anitmals 1o cross to the neat hill, “q_g5.555 3 .
no other way. Apo Buanay did his ttapping in what came 1 be Inml'i-n u?“fiﬂ’.'.f;i““
Buanay” each day and was always successful, [Source: Dapy Pananglay Mari-ay, %4?

' Ban-ni. Ban-ni i? ‘ hjj!:, on the Cotabato side, that is ysed for the storape of seeds, S ns
of thig are still visible in the present day, linle stones, for mstance, which are il:lul::-a]E.’r:r:
of com grains and mongo peas. [Source: Daty Vicente Mansabanlay, ]

. Singhawan, This is a big hill. There was a youn

Hill He was sent on an errand by his father, to gather some “mama” and some food. As
soon as he stepped on Sinahawan, he looked back at Uptan river, saw the house c-f- his
lover and started (o sob from loneliness. “Sinahaw” means ¢ ing: referring to the place

where a lover cried for his love in Upian river. [Source: Datu Vicents Mansabanlay,
6033

B man here whose lover Hved in Mundo

. Marileg: In the old days, at Mundo Hill and LIpian, Diatu Omboan, Lumpipe and Dam
Mansabanlay. Naminyo si Tio Lumpipe didto sa Kibalang. Bayaw niya si Data Mugan,
nagpuyo 5a Manlog, In those days, they lived alone, one in each place, “tagsa ka bilog".
This is the meaning of Marilog. [Source: Datu Vicente Mansabanlay, 60]

. Malikongkong. In the old days, it was common to await signs from the alimokon. A
man went hunting and when he reached Malikongkong, in Upian, Davao, he put up a
tittle hut. Hunting was good. All the alimokon signs were favorable. It was in faet said
that the alimokon were “gatikongkong™ neatly pathered (here. [Source: Datu Vicente
Manszbanlay, 60]

. Matigol. Matigol 15 an eight-stage waterfalls, on the Cotabato side, regarded by the
people as a strange phenomenon. Old people claim that when they watch the falls, it
wils a5 if something went wrong in their heads, or “matigol”. [Source: Datu Vicente
Mansabanlay, 60]

. Kuapu {Kulapu), The headwaters of Kulapo river is Sinaka mountain. At the fime of
the great deiupe, there was also the problem of great hunpger. Bahi was also kmown to
the Matigsalug as “pula”, and kula pith was a great source of survival, [Source: Datu
Vicente Mansabanlay, 60

Kivakal. Mount Kivokal was so named afler the tiny speck of it that was left in the time
ofthe great deluge, It was said that when the water level rose, the only land that was left
Was the size of a deer’s eyes. Hence, the description Kivokal. Sumudan was an ances-
1ot from Tagum who went hunting there, He was the ancestor of a certain Dawakl.
[SourceDat Pananglay Mari-ay, 74]

38.. Milais, 1t was so named after the bamboo grown by Apo Inaag Mampae, the only elder

in Lais. [Source: Datu Pananglay Mari-ay, 74]
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59, Sumilop. This was part of the same siory of pangayaw participated in by Apg B
Apo Monakim and Apo Mari-ay. Their enemy only got as far as Sumilop, apd fell h-:iu:
[Source: Datu Pananglay Mari-ay, T4]

' iti an of Mari istrict, Davao City, was drawn from th
60. Ladian - Sitio Ladian of Marilog [Histrict, ] e names of
their elders: LA from Lambag; DI from Dionog, and AN from Anisudo. Who have e
there, along with their ancestors before them, since nme mmmemorial. This was fopm)
ized as a sitio in 1981, [Source: Datu Luis Lambac, 3]

61, Sinakob. Sinakob creek in Sitio Ladian is named after the mama container called
sinakob. [Source: Datu Luis Lambac, 39] '

62. Kahabang. Also flowing from Mt Sinaka, so named because it was the subject of
frequent landshides. [Source: Datu Luis Lambac, 19]

63. Mig-ulang and Tigkil. Mig-ulang described the appearance of the mountain the tip of
which was like the collar of a shirt. This was also the story of Apo Magkahumban At
the time of the great deluge, & young man named Gomotao had to tiptoe to stay afloat,
which in Matgsalug is to "nghal”, This is now the name of the place adjacent to Mig-
ulang. [Scurce: Fermin Kagumban, 60] a

64, Eulaman. (Bangalong = valley) It was Tulalang who gave Kulaman its name. We have
no idea why such was the name given. This was also called Kulaman because Tulalang
used to pass here whenever he went to Lanao to fight the Maranaps and back. His
brother lived in Maabang-abang, Eventually, we sustained serious wounds from Bis
fights. This was when he leaned and rested on 3 balete tree called Ulambayss. The

same balete is still there, stunted mn its growth from the weight of Tulalang. [Sources:
Anastacio Gumanon, 36 & Fermun Kagumban, G

63. Hibaba. This was the story of a lake in Pasabit, part of Sinuda, A Maranao armved 10
collect his debts, Servanis of his deblors went out to hunt and caught a game. A lady
asked a hunting dog if they caught anything. She lady ought to have known alrcady
because of pigs ears hung around the neck of the dog. The dog replicd in the positive:
Shﬂrti_!r after dinner, a heavy downpour followed. Two ladies fought over one *3.5-““’-'5
a Matigsalug guitar. One young iman said that it was he who put a stop to the rain, 08¢
lady also claimed that it was she who put a stop o the rein, Until the water in the Lanad
rose. And the guest bepan to be fearful sbout the nming tide. They began to we e . .
the mortar and pestle started to maove. Ihe Maraniao went home in Hﬂwﬂr
Mara, upward, dowmward and the place was called Kuluklukonan Down he went 8o
the place he found was called Natugsangan. And on he went to Kulaman, downward:
then up gam and reached a point which was called Kinahibaba There is a place ther®
A Eallc_d Hibaba. Until he reached fhe Pulangi (river), then thiei- san: Hi% I!!.it,’:ﬂ#_\:l-
Buge cel in the sea. [Source: Anastacio Lumanon, 36] . .

E. Amsenio Manuel, Manuvu Socjal Organization (Quezon City: wrﬁ*
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u[ﬁlﬂfﬂi Research Council, University of the E'hl.[;ppmn [
Franciseo K. Demetrio, “An Overview of Philippine
1579, pp- 9-28. Reference to Ulod on pp, 25-26.
Richard Elkins, "Root of a Language: How One Manoho Word

; - b | Led T
Alfredo B. Roces, Editor i Chief, Filipino Heritage | Metr hluml_c: E;J:‘knmjl.lcr 7
publishing, Inc., 1977) Volume 2, p. _153- Emphasis in hald supphed i
Datu Lorenzo H Gawilan, “The Matigsalup Manobo Tribe: Their Cultural Survival &
Genealogy,” Sinuda, Kiaotae, Bukidnon, 11 May 1994, pd. : !
[hied,
It

973), p. 7

pine Epjcs ” Kinaadman, Volume 1

* Manuel, ibid.. see ethnographic map across p. 4,

L]

n

" Excerpis from Fr. Vincent Cullen, 5.J., “Report on the

Cee Parl 3, p- 39, this study,

Datu Moreno Tumindog stressed this in a meeting in Manila, April 27, 1994, -Da
Melecio Man-ukil affirmed this during the evening interview in Sinuda. 8 May 1994
the darus around the table nodded in agreement. : '
W“ﬂﬁflﬂ J. Sununguit, The Subanu Culture in Mount Malindang: An Ethnography
Master's Thesis, LIIJ]"."-L']’EI.‘I_'?' of the Philippines, April 1989, pp. 80 & 81, No objective
explanation 15 given for this belief,

Interview with Ape Kinantas at het residence in Sinuda, 10 May 1994,

Affidavit of Fr. Teodoro Urrutia, 5.1, signed 7 February 1975, Malaybalay, Bukidnon,
published in Various Reports, 21 March 1975, pp. 22.25

Anather account, presumably by Fr. Vincent Cullen, S.J, said: A PC trooper phato-
graphed by Fr. Urrutia while he was photographing the body. Fr. Urrutia’s film was
stolen from his camera, From Anonymous, “The Price of Developmenr in Bukidnon,™
Various Reports, 14 march 1975, pp. 18-28

The zame account cited earhier added the following details, noting tha fty houses
were burned: It should be noted that the Manobo moved to White Kulaman after their
barrio Dalurong, compnsing of some forty houses, was bumed by Bueno’s cowboys
and guards in 1965, Nothing was dode about the burning. Since then due to lack of
adequate fencing, Bueno’s cattle continue o rozm around Whire Kulaman destnoying
the Manohos' crops. Jhid.

Afidavit of Tomas Manlibangan, thumbmarked and signed by a winess, 7 February
1975, Malaybalay, Buksdnon, Various Reports, 21 March 1975, pp. 22-23,

“The Bueno people are now claiming that the Manobos fired on them after having sto-
len the cattle and that they returned fire, but what does the evidence show? A group of
men, women and children, cating out in the open, are pot acting like :uﬂ]e rusthers, and
the women and children don’t open fire on heatily armed cowboys. This 1o date 15 the
sad tale of the White Kulaman murder " From Anonymous, “"The Price of Development

in Bukidnon,” Various Reports, 14 march 1975, pp. 18-28.
G Syuation of the Cultural Minorn-

fies i the Province of Bukidnon.” Signs of the Times, 12 September 1975, pp. 22-30

* Data in this entire subsection are direct quotes from the 12pe of the interview held in the

evening of § May 1994 at the residence of Datu Gawilan. The respondents are 3§ indi-
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sated. . ) . .
‘ %1 in this entire subsection are diregy i

" 'nless atherwise indicated the 1&
tape of the terview done in the afternoon of 09 May 1994 in §j : %wh
ac indicated. inuda. Ree i ’g

» During the evenng interviews with the datus on B May at Daty Gomilinie e
drese two singers livened the atmosphere by singing softly in the backprg 8 Tesiden,
{hem 10 sing WO SONES later, and dictate the lyrics slowly for the record. Das, | - W
did the translation into Cebuano: 1 did the Cebuano to E“E”ﬁhﬁﬁhﬁ Mhigy:
claded here. TR R B

o DumLmtnzn“Snligm"B.Gw'ilm » A Historical Overview of The Matipsal
Tribe & Their Cultural Survival.” May 11, 1994, 7p. RS,
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Prof Radil with fribal leadors during interview hreak
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(L-R) Hosts Freddie Lamumay, Wife Evelyn & Child, wiih
rg other children-relatives
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(L-81 Chbedion Seovoonmgng, the il rrveter: Ms Cecile Tinwian and M
research fevnm premibiers and Simplicio M
il the hackyrotmd

L than bivee deep! Prof Rodid at the keadwaters of the might Pulangr i Higauns
tervitory in Kalahugao, Bukiduon



